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Re: Truly International Holdings Limited
Information Furnished Pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b)
under the Securities Exchange Act

On behalf of Truly International Holdings Limited (the "Company"), S.E.C. File No.
82-3700, the enclosed copies of documents are submitted to you in order to maintain the
Company's exemption from Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Act")
pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Act:

1. The Company’s announcement regarding notice of extraordinary general meeting,
dated May 3, 2006, published (in the English language) in South China Morning Post, and
published (in the Chinese language) in the Hong Kong Economic Times, both on May 3,
2006;

2. The Company’s circular regarding proposed purchase of equipment for new TFT-
LCD production line and purchase and installation of ancillary facilities and infrastructure,
dated May 3, 2006;

3. The Company’s announcement regarding notice of annual general meeting, dated
April 12, 2006 , published (in the English language) in South China Morning Post, and
published (in the Chinese language) in the Hong Kong Economic Times, both on April 12,
2006;
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4. The Company’s announcement regarding proposed purchase of equipment for the
new TFT-LCD production line and purchase and installation of ancillary facilities and
infrastructure, dated April 12, 2006; published (in the English language) in South China
Morning Post, and published (in the Chinese language) in the Hong Kong Economic Times,
both on April 15, 2006;

S. The Company’s circular regarding general mandates to issue and repurchase
shares, re-election of directors, refreshment of the scheme mandate and amendments to the
articles, dated April 12, 2006;

6. The Company’s announcement of 2005 final results, dated March 23, 2006;
published (in the English language) in South China Morning Post, and published (in the
Chinese language) in the Hong Kong Economic Times, both on March 24, 2006;

7. The Company’s annual report 2005, dated March 23, 2006; and

8. The Company’s form of proxy for annual general meeting.

The parts of the enclosed documents that are in Chinese substantially restate the
information appearing elsewhere in English.

We would appreciate your acknowledging receipt of the foregoing by stamping and
returning the enclosed copy of this letter. A self-addressed, stamped envelope is enclosed for

your convenience.

Very truly yours,

P

Simon Luk

Enclosure

cc:  Truly International Holdings Limited

HK 1077990 v1
(19064.0001)
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TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED'

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited’ llabxltty)
. (Stock Code: 0732)

NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an extraordinary general meeting of Truly International Holdmgs Limited (the “Company”) will

‘ be held at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territori¢s, Hong Kong on Friday, 15 May

2006 at 10:30 a.m. for the purpose of considering and,if thought fit, passmg, with or without modifications, the following resolution
which will be proposed as an ordinary resolution:

ORDINARY RESOLUTION : :

“THAT:~ |
(A) the Iprc_)pos'al for Truly Semiconductors Limited (“Truly Semiconductors”) to enter into a Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement

with Nakan Corporation (“Nakan”) whereby Nakan would design and construct for Truly Semiconductors a new core TFT-LCD
production line together with ancillary facilities and infrastructure Sthe “New Production Line") as the same is described in the

i circular of the Company dated 3 May 2006 (the “Circular”) be and is hereby approved, and any one director of the Company be

and. is hereby authorized to take-such actions and execute such documents (to be countersigned by the secretary of the Company
or by another director of the Company if it is required to affix the common seal of the Company thereto) as he may consider’
necessary or desirable to carry out and complete the transactions contemplated thereunder; and - '

(B) the proposed purchase and installation of aucxllary facilities and infrastructure which will mclude ) mfrastructure (2) clean
room system; (3) electncuy facilities; (4) water purification facilities; (5) gas facilities; (6) environmeéntal protectlon facilities;
and (7) techhical support-and miscellaneous by Truly Semiconductors as described in the Circular and the transactions
contemplated thereunder be and are hereby approved, and any one director of the Company be andl is hereby authorized to take
such actions and execute such documents (to be countersigned by the secretary of the Company or by another director of the
Company if it is required to affix the common seal of the Company thereto) as he may consider necessary or desirable to carry
out and complete the transactions contemplated thereunder.”

! . ‘ By Order of the Board

Ng Sui Wa, Thomas
Company Secretary

'
5 .

Hong Kong, 3 May 2006

‘Notes:

(1) A member entitled to attend and vote at the above Meeting is enmled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy
need not be 2 member of the Company.

(2) In order to be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a
notarially certified copy of that power of attorhey or other authority, must be lodged.at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 2nd

Floor, Chung Shun Kritting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street szu Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time fixed
-for helding-the ‘Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

(3) A form of proxy for use at the Meeting is being dxspatched to the shareholders of the Company together with a copy of this notice.

As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprised Mr. Lam Wai Wah Steven, Mr. Wong Pong Chun,~James, ‘Mr. Cheung Tat

Sang, James and Mr. Li Jian Hua as executive directors and Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, Mr. Ip Cho ng, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai
Sing as mdependent non-executive dzrectors
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TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

{Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 0732)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting of the Company will be held at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting
Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong on Wednesday, 10 May 2006 at 10:30 a.m. for the following

purpcses:

1. To receive and consider the Financial Statements and the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors for the year ended 31
December 2005.

2.  To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005.

3. To elect Directors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

4.  To appoint Auditors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

5. As special business, to consider and, if th_ought fit, pass the following resolutions with or without modifications, as Ordinary
Resolutions:
(A) “THAT:

(1) subject to paragraph (2) below, the exercise by the Directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the Company to purchase shares in the capital of the Company be and is
hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

(2) the aggregate nominal amount of shares which may be purchased by the Directors of the Company pursuant to the’
approval in paragraph (1) above shall not exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of

the Company in issue as at the date of the passing of this Resolution and the said approval shall be limited
accordingly; and

(3) for the purpose of this Resolution “Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this Resolution until
whichever is the earlier of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by law
to be held; and

(iii) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this Resolution by ordinary resolution of the Company
in general meeting.”

(B) “THAT:

(1) subject to paragraph (3) below, the exercise by the Directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with additional shares in the capital of
the Company, and to make or grant offers, agreements and options which might require the exercise of such power,
be and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

(2) the approval in paragraph (1) above shall authorise the Directors of the Company during the Relevant Period to

make or grant offers, agreements and options which might require the exercise of such power after the end of the
Relevant Period;

(3) the aggregate nominal amount of shares allotied or agreed conditionally or uncornditionally to be allatted (whether
pursuant to an option or otherwise) by the Directors of the Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (1)
above, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter defined), (ii) the exercise of any option granted
under any option scheme or similar arrangement for the time being adopted for the grant or issue to employees of
the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries of options to subscribe for, or rights to acquire, shares of the Company,
or (iii) the exercise of rights of subscription or conversion under the terms of any warrants issued by the Company,
or any other securities which are convertible into shares of the Company, and from time to time outstanding, shall
not exceed 20 percent of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
the passing of this Resolution, and the said approval shall be limited accordingly; and

(4) for the purpose of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this Resolution until whichever is the earlier of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by law
to be held; and

(iii) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this Resolution by ordinary resolution of the Company
in general meeting; and

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares or other securities open for a period fixed by the Directors of the Company
to holders of shares on the Register of Members of the Company on a fixed record date in proportion to their then
holdings of such shares (subject to such exclusion or other arrangements as the Directors of the Company may deem
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions or obligations under

the laws or the requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in any territory outside Hong
Kong).”

(C) “THAT the general mandate granted to the Directors of the Company to exercise the powers of the Company to allot,

issue and deal with additional shares in the capital of the Company be and is hﬁreby extended by addm‘J to the aggregate
nominal amonnt of shares which mav ha allntted or agread condisl 1l




nominal amount o snares wnich may oe atlotied or agreed conditionalily or uncQnaitignaily to pe ailotted pursuant o such £
geneval mandate-the aggrégate nominalamount-of Shares in‘the capital-ofthe: Company purchased by the Company
pursuant:to:the exercise by the Dicectors of the Company:of the powers of-the Company to purchase such shares (provided
that such amount shall not exceed 10 percent of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in
issue as at the date of the passing of this Resclution).”

6.  As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution with or without modification, as an Ordinary
Resolution:

“THAT pursuant to Clause 5(B) of the share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”)} adopted by the Company on 22
December 2003, approval be and is hereby generally and unconditionally granted for refreshing the 10% limit under the Share
Option Scheme provided that (i) the total number of shares in the capital of the Company which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company under
the limit as refreshed hereby shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in
issue on the date of the passing of this resolution and (ii) options previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company (including options outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with

the terms of the Share Option'Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company) shall not be counted for the purpose
of calculating the 10% limit as refreshed hereby.”

7. As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution with or without modification, as a Special
Resolution: .

“THAT the Articles be amended as follows:
(A) In Article 2:—
{1) by deleting the longer of the two definitions for the term “associate”; and
(2) by deleting the existing definition for “holding company” and substituting therefor the following:—

““holding company” and “subsidiary” shall have the respective meanings attributed to these terms in the Listing
Rutes;”.

(B) By deleting Article 2A in its entirety.

(C) 1In the second paragraph of Article 81, by deleting the words “duly required or demanded” and inserting in their place
“required or duly demanded”.

(D) In Article 82, by deleting the words “duly required in demanded” and inserting in their place “required or duly demanded”.
(E) In Article 87, by inserting the word “resolution” immediately following the words “any particular”.

(F) By renumbering the paragraph stated as Article 96(A) as Article 96A.

(G) By deleting the existing Article 100 in its entirety and replacing therewith the following new Article 100:

“100.The Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy) or until the next annual
general meeting of the Company (in the case of an addition to the Board), and shall then be eligible for re-election
at that meeting. Any Director who so retires at the annual general meeting of the Company shall not be taken into
account in determining the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.”

(H) By deleting from Article 111 the second sentence: “A Director appointed as the Managing Director, Joint Managing
Director, Deputy Managing Director or other Executive Director shall not while holding such office be subject to retirement
by rotation or taken into account in determining the rotation of retivement of Directors”.

() By replacing the word “exceeding” in the first sentence of Article 120 by “less than”.

(J) By inserting at the end of the first sentence Article 120 immediately after the word “office” the words “such that each
Director to retire shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years”.

(K) By inserting in Article 122 immediately after the words “year to year” the words “, subject to the provisions in Article 120
that each Director shall retire by rotation at least once every three years,”.

(L) By deleting the second sentence of Article 126 in its entirety.

(M) By inserting at the end of the sentence in Article 109 the following words “Provided that Non-Executive Directors shall be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.””

By Order of the Board
Ng Sui Wa, Thomas
Company Secretary
Hong Kong, 12 April 2006

Notes:

(1} The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from 24 April 2006 to 28 April 2006, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfers of shares will be registered.

(2) A member entitled to attend and vote at the above Meeting is entitled to appoint one gr more proxies to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy
need not be a member of the Company.

(3) In order to be valid, the instcument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a
notarially certified copy of that power of attorney or other authority, must be lodged at the Company's principal office in Hong Kong at 2nd
Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Koug not less than 48 hours before the time fixed
for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

(4) Concerning the ordinary resolutions set out in paragraphs 5(B) and 5(C) of the above notice, the approval is being sought from members as a
general mandate in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Directors
of the Company have no immediate plans to issue any new shares of the Company.

(5) Concerning the resolutions set out in paragraphs 5(A), 5(B)}, 5(C), 6 and 7 of the above notice, a circular containing particulars of the proposed
resolutions, a notice to the annual general meeting and an explanatory statement containing information regarding resolutions as set out in
paragraphs 5(A), 5(B), 5(C), 6 and 7 will be sent to Shareholders with the Company’s 2005 Annual Report.

As at the date of this announcemer, the Board comprised Mr Lam Wai Wah, Steven, Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, Mr. Cheung Tat
Sang, James and Mr. Li Jian Hua as executive directors and Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai
Sing as independent non-executive directors. )
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The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, makes no representation as
to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.

TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islnnds with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 0732)

. MAJOR TRANSACTION
PROPOSED PURCHASE OF EQUIPMENT FOR THE NEW TFT-LCD PRODUCTION LINE AND
PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION OF ANCILLARY FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE

The Board is pleased to announce that,on 11 April, 2006, Truly Semiconductors, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a Letter of Intent with Nakan. Under the Letter of Intent, the parties agreed, subject to obtaining the approval of the
shareholders of the Company to enter into a Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement whereby Nakan (an Independent Third Party)
shall design and construct the New Production Line on a turn-key basis for Truly Semiconductors. In conjunction with the

commissioning of the New Production Line, Truly Sem1conductors also intends to purchase and install ancillary facilities and
infrastructure.

It is expected that the proposed transactions contemplated under the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement and the purchase and
installation of ancillary facilities and infrastructure will constitute a major transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules
and will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

To the Directors’ best knowledge, information and belief, no Shareholders is required to abstain from voting on the resolutions
to be proposed at the EGM for the approval of the Transactions.

A circular containing further details of the Transactions and a notice of EGM will be dispatched to the Shareholders as soon as
- possible.

LETTER OF INTENT
Date : 11 April, 2006

Parties : (1) Truly Semiconductors, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

(2) Nakan, a Japanese company principally engaged in the development and production of plant, machinery and
equipment for LCD and related products.

Tp the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief after making all reasonable enquiries, Nakan and its ultimate
beneficial owners are Independent Third Parties.

Under the Letter of Intent (which is intended to be Jegally binding but is subject to the actual terms of the Basic Sale and Purchase
Agreement to be negotiated and finalized between the parties), the parties have agreed, subject to obtaining the approval of the
Shareholders, to enter into the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement which is expected to provide for the following:—

Scope of Nakan’s work

The work tobe undertaken by Nakan under the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement is expected to include the design, equipment
purchase, fitting out, installation and trial production for the New Production Line on a turn-key basis.

Nakan will be required to complete the New Production Line within nine months from the date of the notice of commencement given
by Truly Semiconductors. It is intended that Truly Semiconductors will issue the notice of commencement as soon as practicable
following signing of the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement. The New Production Line is expected to be completed in February
2007.

Contract Sum

It is intended that the total consideration payable by Truly Semiconductors to Nakan under the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement
shall be the sum of JPY15,178,000,000 (approximately HK$986.6 million) and US$19,500,000 (approximately HK$152.1 million).

The Directors confirm that the Contract Sum was determined after arm’s Jength negotiations between Nakan and Truly Semiconductors

by reference to numerous individual items the pricing for and the sourcing of which had been negotiated in detail between Truly .
Semiconductors and Nakan over a period of some six months.

PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION OF ANCILLARY FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE

In conjunction with the commissioning of the New Production Line pursuant to the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement, Truly
Semiconductors intends to purchase and install certain ancillary facilities and infrastructure, which will include:~

(1) infrastructure;

(2) clean room system;

(3) electricity facilities;

(4) water purification facilities;

(5) gas facilities;

(6) - environmental protection facilities; and

(7) technical support and miscellaneous

Truly Semiconductors has commenced the process of identifying potential suppliers and contractors (which will be Indepehdent
Third Parties) and commenced negotiations regarding each individual purchase and service contract. The total projected costs for the

purchase and installation of these ancillary facilities and infrastructure are in the region of approximately HK$300 million, and are
expected not to exceed HK$400 million.

REASQONS FOR AND BENEFITS OF THE TRANSACTIONS
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screen, which the Group has had to source from third parties. The New Production Line will enable the Group to commence its own
production of TFT-LCD panels which will be assembled with other components, thereby reducing the overall production costs for
these products. The Directors believe that the vertical integration represented by completion and operation of the New Production

Line will enhance the production capacity and efficiency of the Group, and thereby assist the Group’s competitive position in the
market.

The aggregate costs to Truly Semiconductors for the New Production Line, including the Contract Sum and the cost for the purchase
and installation of ancillary facilities and infrastructure are projected to be approximately HK$1,438.7 million and are estimated not
to exceed HK$1,538.7 million. The Group intends to finance the Transactions as to approximately 80% by existing internal resources
and as to the balance by unsecured bank loans which the Group expects to arrange in due course.

The Directors are of the view that the Transactions are in the interest of the Company and the terms of the Basic Sale and Purchase
Agreement and for the purchase and installation of ancillary facilities and infrastructure will be on normal commercial terms, which

will be fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Shareholders and the Company as a whole so far as the Shareholders are
concerned.

GENERAL

As the relevant percentage ratios in respect of the Transactions treated on an aggregate basis under the assets test and the consideration
test for the purposes of Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules are more than 25% but less than 100%, the Transactions will constitute a
major transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules and will be subject to Shareholders’ approval at the EGM. To the
Directors’ best knowledge, information and belief, no Shareholders is required to abstain from voting on the resolutions to be

proposed at the EGM for the approval of the Transactions. A circular in connection with the purchase of the New Production Line
will be dispatched to the Shareholders as soon as practicable.

DEFINITIONS
“Basic Sale and Purchase the turn-key agreement to be entered into, subject to and following Shareholders” approval of the
Agreement” Transactions, between Truly Semiconductors as the owner and Nakan as the main contractor for the
design and construction of the New Production Line on a turn-key basis
“Board” the board of Directors
“Company” Truly International Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the shares
: of which are listed on the Stock Exchange
“Contract Sum” the aggregate consideration for the design, equipment purchase, fitting out, installation and trial
production for the New Production Line expected to be payable by Truly Semiconductors pursuant to
the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement
“Directors” the directors of the Company
“EGM” the extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be convened for the purpose of approving the
Transactions '
“Group” - the Company and its subsidiaries
“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
“Independent Third (an) independent third party(ies) not connected with the Directors, chief executive or substantial
Party(ies)” shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) and who is {(and not itself (themselves) a connected person(s) of the Company
“Letter of Intent” the letter of intent entered into between Truly Semiconductors and Nakan on 11 April, 2006 under
which the parties have conditionally agreed to enter into the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement
“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
“Nakan” Nakan Corporation, a company incorporated in Japan
“New Production Line” the core TFT-LCD production line and its ancillary facilities and infrastructure proposed to be
‘ constructed and completed pursuant to the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement
“Shareholders” holders of shares in the capital of the Company
“Stock Exchange” : the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
“TFT-LCD” . ‘ Thin Film Transistor-Liquid Crystal Displays ]
“Transactions” the entering of the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement, the transactions contemplated thereunder
o and the purchase and installation of ancillary facilities and infrastructure
“Truly Semiconductors” Truly Semiconductors Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
“HKS$” Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
“IJPY” Japanese Yen, the lawful currency of Japan
“Uss$” United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the United States-of America

In this announcement, for reference only and unless otherwise specified, the translation of US$ into HKS is based on the exchange
rate of US$1 to HK$7.80 and the translation of JPY into HK3 is based on the exchange rate of JPY100 to HK$6.50.

By Order of the Board
Lam Wai Wah, Steven
Chairman
As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprises four executive directors, Mr. Lam Wai Wah, Steven, Mr. Wong Pong Chun,
James, Mr. Cheung Tat Sang, James and Mr. Li Jian Hua; and three independent non-executive directors, Mr. Chung Kam Kwong,
Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing.

Hong Kong, 11 April, 2006
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6. . DIVIDENDS

N . 2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000

Interim dividend paid of 23 HK cents (2004: 17 HK cents) per share 105,378 76,762
Fina) dividend proposed of 25 HK cents (2004: 23 HK cents) per share 114,614 ' 103,889
219,992 180,651

The final dividend of 25 HK cents (2004: 23 HK cents) per share has been proposed by’ the directors and is subject
to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting,

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE .
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

2005 2004
HEK$'000 HK$'000
Earaings for the purposes of basic and dituted earnings per share 702,04§ 526,501
2008 2004
Number of Number of |
shares shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of
basic carnings per share ) 455,489,623 447,983,270
Effect of dilutive potentia) ordinary shares — share options 12,969,191 18,571.052
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of
diluted carnings per share N 468,458,814 466,554,322
8.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES . R
The Group bas a palicy of allowing an average credit terms ranging from 30 1o 90 days to its trade customers.
The following is an aged analysis of accounts receivable at the balance sheet date:
2005 2004
h HE$'000 - HK$'000
Within 60 days 566,087 379,284
61 to 90 days 63,958 45,629
More'than 90 days 24,611 40,022
654,656 464,935
9.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
The following is an aged analysis of accounts payable at the balance sheet date:
2065 2004
HKS$'000 HK$'000
Within 60 days 685,095 342,951
61 10 90 days 38,014 21,656
More than 90 days 31,596 41,838
754,705 406,445

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business Review

LCD sales for the year were about HK$4.4 billion (2004: HK$3.1 billion), and comprised 96% of the
Group's turnover. In 20035, 76% and 13% of the LCD outputs in doilar term were shipped to China and
South Korea respectively. Ovr performance in these two markets were still outperforming over those elsewhere
as consistent with the first half year, With GDP heavily relying on exports, these two world-class
manufacturing bases are regarded as TRULY's stepping stone for our producls to be recognised in the
international market.

Despite a negative sentiment being widely spread in the mobile handset market in which the Group’s LCD
products have a leverage, we have during the year achieved an overall encouraging gross and net profit
margins of 23.8% and 15.3% respectively. In addition (o a traditionally tight overbeads budget and the
effective cost control, the better thau expected profit margins were in fact a result of the real return from our
investment in antomated production plants and the continuovs improvement in productivity siach as outputs
and yields.

Vertical integration in production of ocur LCD modules has been one of our business successes for some
time. During the year, the mass productions of flexible and conventiona) printed circuit boards and camera
modules in our own factories had significantly reduced the purchase cost of making the final LCD products.
Together with the increased production capability of the second CSTN line, we are ready to meet new
business opportunity.

BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
Business segments

2005
Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Consolidated
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

As an industrialist with more emphasis on production and R&D, we have also put much efforts in our
marketing force. In order to strengthen our direct business relationships with multinational customers, we
tad during the year re-organised our various overseas marketing offices including the Earope, USA and
Japan subsidiaries. The successful implementation of the said re- -structuring will no doubt be advantageous
to our healthy growth in geographical segments and diversify the associated credit risk.

2006 and the following couple of years will witness'the Group’s anothar dramatic change in tcchnologncal
breakthrough. Through years of product development and feasibility study, we are now ia the process of
finalising the investments of a mass production plant in TFT paznel or OLED (“Organic Light Emitting
Diode"} displays. The plan established so far is based on a principally self-financed model, We are fully
confident of achieving the goal in the near future and thereafter our customers can enjoy the benefit of an
even more cost effective total colour display solution under TRULY's brand name.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Investment, Assets and Liabilities

During the year, the Group acquired plant and machinery amounting to HK$393 million and properties
under development amounting to HK$34 million for the purpose of cxpandmg its manufacturing capacity in
the China factory campus.

Total assets were increased by approximately 42% to HK$3,428 million which comprised HK$2,157 million
of current assets, HK$1,091 million of property, plant and equipment and HK$180 million of other long-
term assets. Total labilities were about HK$1,490 million, of which HK$1,202 million were current liabilities .
and HK$288 million were long term liabilities. The current ratio was maintained at a heaithy level of 1.8.

Liquidity and Fmanclal Resources
Turnover and net profit for the year were mcreascd by 34% and 33% rcspccuvely Earnings per share were
accordingly enhanced by approximately 31%.

As at 31 December 2005, the surplus cash and bank balances, net of outstanding bank and other bbr‘rowings
were about HK$417 million (2004: HK$53 million), These borrowings bear interest at prevalhng market
mte and their maturity profiles are shown in the notes to the financial statements.

The financial position of the Group is even better than last year and ready for future capital expansion while
keeping a sufficiently high level of cash and bank balances (HK$848 million at 31 December 2005) together
with adequate unutilised banking facilities. The gearing ratio based on total liabilities, net of cash and bank
balances was approximately 33%.

Capital expéndilurc of around HK$2 billion for the next three years in respect of acquisitions  of property,
plant and equipment was authorized but not contracted for. Their expected sources of funding will be
principally from internal reserves.

General

During the year, the Company issued 6,475,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each under share option scheme
at HK$2.196 per share, for a consideration of HK$14,219,100. The new shares rank pari passu with the
existing shares in all respects and the issued share capital of the Company was accordingly mcreascd to
HK$45,816,453 at 31 December 2005,

The state of the Group's current order books is very good.

Except for mvcstmcms in subsidiaries and an assocmte neither the Group nor the Company had beld any
material iovestments during the year,

Additions to and disposals of fixed assets miinly in plant and machinery were approximately HK$435

_million and HK$15 million during the year. As at 31 December 2005, the Group had pledged certain of its

machinery with an aggregate carrying value of apprcximately HK$47 million to secure banking facilities -
granted to the Company's subsidiaries.

More than 6,800 workers and staff are currently employed in our Shan Wei factory in China and around 30
personnel in the Group s Hong Kong office. Total staff costs for the year were approximately HK$196
million.

The Group had no material contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date and cxposure to fluctuations in
exchangc rates was minor and properly hedged, if any.

OTHER INFORMATION |

Dividends

The directors recommend the paymeat of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005 of 25
HK cents per share (2004: 23 HK cents) which, together with the interim dividend of 23 HK cents per share

 (2004: 17 HK cents) paid in October, 2005, makes a total dividend for the year of 48 HK cents per share

(2004: 40 HK cents).

The total dividend payout ratio for the year was about 31% and it is the Board’s long-term lérgel to keep
this ratio in between 30% and 35%. .

Closure of Repister of Members

The Register of Members will be closed from 24 April 2006 10 28 Apri} 2006, both dates inclusive, dunng
which period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order 1o qualify for the final dividend, all transfers
accompanied by relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Branch Share Registrars,
Secretaries Limited, at Level 25, Three Pacific Place, [ Queen's Road East, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:00 p.m. on 21 April 2006.

Annual General Meeting
The 2006 Annual General Mecting of the Company will be held on 10 May 2006. A notice convening the
meeting will be issued in due course. .




Interest income 14,536
Unallecated corporate expenses (1,092)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investment (7,800) - {7,800)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment T (6,377) {6,377)
. Finance costs ’ (19,683)
Share of results of an associate : - (382) (382)
Profit before taxation 841,505
Income tax expense {139,457
Profit for the year 702,048
2004 )
Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Consolidated
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Restated)
REVENUE
External sales 3,138,393 268,599 3,406,992
RESULT
Segment result 618,989 2,625 621,614
Interest income ’ f 1,477
Unallocated corporate expenses (1,075)
Finance costs (14,201)
Share of results of an associate ’ - 113 113
Profit before taxation 607,928
Income tax expense (81,427)
Profit for the year 526,501
Geographical segments
Turnover by
geographical segments
2005 2004
' HK$'000 HK$'000
PRC 3,433,919 , 2,265,565
South Xorea 587,569 443,167
Japan 175,194 241,350
Hong Kong 147,980 135,207
Europe 119,132 113,778
Others 110,285 207,925
4,574,079 3,406,992
Outlook

OQur business expansion over the past few years was based on solid grounds of making the right investments
in production facilities, selecting the right products to develop and sell and targeting the right market to
penetrate, We will continue to fine-tune the execution of these policies to keep the Group growing in the
right direction. As a matter of self-monitoring, more and more internal controls will be and are being
deployed to regulate this growing process.- After the successful launch of the MRPII system in materia)
_requisition and production planning in around May 2004 which resulted in rapid decline in inventory
turnover period from over 100 days to-around 50 days, a new ERP system is now being tested which will
further enhance the production efficiency of the Group.

AVAVMET UUR - .
None of the Directors of the Company is aware of information that would reasonably indicate that the

Company was not in the year under review in compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions

by Directers of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
[

(the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Audit Committee .

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in accordance with the code provisions of the
Corperate Governance Code (the “Code™) for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group's financial reporting matters and internal controls. The annual results have been reviewed by the
Audit Commitice which comprises all the three independent non-executive directors namely Mr. Chung
Kam Kwong (being the Chairman), Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing together with Mr.
Wong Pong Chua, James, an executive director, as members. They meet at least four times a year,

The Group has received, from each of the independent non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive directors are independent,

R ation and N, tion Commitiees

The Company has set up 2 Remuneration Committee and a Nomination Comumittee respectively in accordance
with the relevant requirements of the Code. The two Comntittees are chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, an
independent non-executive director and comprise three other members, namely Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer
and Mr. Heung Kai Sing, being independent non-exectitive directors and Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James; an
executive director of the Company.

Corporate Governance : . .

We have complied with all the applicable code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules which became effective on 1 January 2005, throughout the
year ended 31 December 2005, except for the following major deviations:

1. Code Provision A.2.1 — The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive are not separated and are
performed by the same individeal, Mr. Lam Wai Wah, Steven. The Board will meet regularly to

consider major matters affecting the operations of the Company. The Board considers that this structire’

will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the management of Company
and believes that this structure will enable us to make and implement decisions promptly and efficiently,

2. Code Provision A.4.1 ~ The independent non-executive Directors have not been appointed for a specific
term, but are subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the Articles,

3. Code Provision A.4.2 - This Code Provision stipulates that all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first next general meeting after their appointment, and every director
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. According to the Articles,
any Director shall hold office-until the next following annual general meeting and at such meeting,
one-third of the Board shall retire {rom office by rotation and be eligible for re-election. Amendments
to the relevant provisions of the Articles will be proposed at the 2006 annual general meeting of the
Company to comply with Code Provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2.

" Sufficiency of Public Float
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2005.

Annual Report ! .

The 2005 Annual Report containing all the information tequired by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited will be published on the websites of the Exchange
and the Company in due course. .

By Order of the Board
Lam Wai Wah, Steven
Chairman
Hong Kong, 23 March 2006 :

As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprised Mr. Lam Wai Wah, Steven, Mr. Wong Pong Chun,
James, Mr. Cheung Tat Sang, James and Mr. Li Jian Hua as executive directors and Mr. Chung Kam
Kwong, Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing as indeperident non-executive directors. '




—

(Y RPRZE A A SRR ABEN IR gup SIS LN Y BABCHUARE - -HET
IE HAN IR RN BIE S IR UMy p y S AN R RO R S Y A AN AU BV IW
IERERREE S R NGB AN R ARy o WA (TWERBBUREY) W& V2
(N SR YR A E T TR S My i AN RS ARV L Y HBEN M ([EXTNX
J:mmﬁuwﬁHEﬁNﬁEN«vﬁdﬁﬁkfamﬂ.&&ﬂw«jﬁ.ZQHNEMﬁuf):%EﬁNﬁ#&ﬂE_ﬁ
wsﬁaﬁ$ajl«%u Ex2 1030 Emtuwmagaés;«__uewwwuﬂwmmmzmﬁ MOE L W

. : UHZRBYEH

CHHRSSN®

nCEQ 3%%5“3&8@&%%(%%3 ﬁﬁ!@EBNFQEMQﬁﬁ&ﬁﬂﬂﬁ!@@NﬂH& BlES

TGN M I NBREY  HERHYRY MR SN LT R RS REN TR O AN AR
MBS HY TGRS RIS LR Y RTI R R SR YR T BULH SIS REBR [ AB B Y
B HLHBEE S NIRRT UG OH PRV AERARTABY S TR A DU

A . .  RBEBMTZMOEN

TMAYHBETEERT
wmﬂﬂﬁﬁtéﬁﬂ EEK$$$&%§EEKEEH HEMZEBYHARBRBA DY E AN ZFY
MR TRV N M BRI MBAY YU ERR R YT ANAAYAT ABTHXTEHR

I E MRS FH BN H—+ S TR Y - FHDUENBE NN THIRRT YR Y~

E W MR FE N WE - HEAB TN AD NN U RO IR U IR S IXXTHAD XUREH
SR Y Y HARUBRTHON EHHERAY — I WREAVNHEN U ITR - FXNATART IR

BTABTHAWCE N AHSRAOU T ERUNETREOENT THRRG ST UT UM SRV -

ﬁE&tbﬂW&@ HRZEIYERRT EEEES&ﬂﬁﬂkmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁwﬁﬁmmmi_mﬂt_tﬁw
Bipe T

CBAYTHRBEY I - —HTEE— ET

W m%mﬂw«:.mﬂ?%ﬁ@mmﬁs#ﬁ N#%QNS%&EG&&@WN«EER& m H—HTEEE"H

- [ 2
aﬁﬂﬁﬂ&ﬁ&h%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ&—MKQ«NSEMM.E_%_,ﬁw—u*&.mﬁw: &R@ﬁwﬁﬁﬁjﬁﬁﬂ
(BB YHBRY AN YL BY D AT TRRHO S VMR D EE ARSI ACRIIMC N EE D &L
BAeVAUEMATARYL W FAAT TRV HDAYTEND AT A (XS THEE SN )W (R
HYRE) T FEUTBRY L (FEUIIRRV U AT IR D AT W CRCRIXUT Wt d
% AR RS k- ARG FAT A Y R 1 300 A 4R e e i 1711 3y JUE R 32

(BT HEBEH T ERADS ) EFERYT WM RAEHITY FRLARBRIBERATER

:u.psmﬁ__uﬂ&nﬁtht$v~ﬁ—nﬂ$K$¢N§w«h<&t#ﬁwﬁ¥E*%,Em\+ m +EHMBECA

R332
NMN&@N&ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂthﬂ@!ﬂt#ﬂ@s@%& FERTHEIACE MR AIABHUOEH ¥
BERTHUFHHTHEHIEY

.m.=uﬁ¥$&NHNHMhsmmwf_mﬂtﬂﬁwmah GAYBEWHELHEZY
WERtﬂﬂﬁdESt@%&ﬂ&%ﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁ&&.ﬁ«ﬁ@ﬁ@ WYY THBUSFHTART R BB
LB R B R B TR T RN IS TR UB IR~ —STXI N HURFZHRC U R USRS
HyHn: KH«mﬁbvﬁomm«=mﬁtO@W-~#Mﬁﬁﬂ KH&@Z&Q@E&.E#QWEEME%# HH¥d

‘HIWE

U GO0 Y UHH O BB Y T HE ¥ - :ﬂﬁ.&&&ﬁﬁ%&mwﬁﬂ

. BEHATE
HO0Y966 h 3) BB E R W HM T HE — H—H A A BN XBROHE TR R ARG Y & , . . ; . . o T
HEABGNY ZF AN ALTE 5 550 SRR HROREA L AN N U ZHILFAS ot . maoy m a8y . R T e ThRE
RN )) S REERZERAVEURET Y B HUG VAR N SR BENRI U RN BE TS 6+ m ez ™ 8sT SR , ¥ —
(TSWY HW) BF A FUIFYIDAA TN GU B AR RERU LB ARRAAS S se+ m gLt BT o Hfd—

’  cHEBFEBANISE cer - o wmert s .w%&m
RN TR AR U NS BN AE WL (S BADR AT BRI OB ARRLAD it il )
FEURB UMD — S THBS A RUDEL NS B CE AR SR AR B RO —% rer ALl L Epsy -
T H A B ML A AL B AN H BN RN HE S 8 S YR TABN YR . ) o I W &
WS B AN R BY R D EN Y- mazﬁamagx&mﬁrxﬂwaumﬁwmwasg EHBWHA £E+ - 1os'szs. 8¥0°20L P : : S HS Y

X -y LE+ . ETOT6L 09€°980°T ; : ) . . . [T%:%
FgﬂﬁnﬂmHNE* vm+4 i Nomwovm;. 6LOPLS'Y W¥E .
ﬁ&;ﬂm\awxﬁwma.£4$f§§muma&§wwEexm\m FLXEZFAMEF T i % . . xHEL ¥ g+ o
: : LAS L EE BARH . BAERH ]
LT HENEABEEE USRI HEAREBAT BN RS HTMEET  HTEET
NS ZEE Y BN RSB RARE N Y HURT N A B - RAH DR Y ST HR T VA : . M.&ﬂm LEHTLE®R
4 Y - ﬁkamwmﬁmma*@mmms«mmqw mas<wmm__mnw&%§ww_awgwm WEHW w@wﬁﬁ
b g ﬁ(&ﬂ%&mwwl
amnc.ﬁﬁm;f -
(BB ZTE Y RGHEHA)

~

105°92S spo‘z0L - - S WBRE S .
(Ley'ts) (Lsp'6ED) . 'y EHWH -
826109 SOS' TS’ ) HREWY

€11 : (z86) WEEvEaE-—o W
(toz'v1) o (e89'6D R B % 0

—. . o g9y m«ﬁ@ﬁN&%%Rﬁ ¥ G

- . .~ (oos'L) HRIDBZERIATHDE

. (6TT'oE) - (65¥p9T) : HEHEL
. {6£8'pS) (T6S“EL) . o YWHL

19091 8EYLT : R S ’ : . Y ¥ B

€20°T6L 09€°980°T Co g ’ o S . % -
(696'519°7) (61LL8Y'E) v , 8.

T66'90%°€ 6LO'PLS'Y BHE

(IEE) . : -

9U Gt ¥+ #H

HWMEET - HERET :

HETH 4= FZ+E8

ERUDSYFEY

.&MﬁkN%%E&%ﬁMH%HN tﬁ#% %%ﬁé%&@ﬁﬁz‘\% By

’ .ﬁ%m«ﬁﬁ%&(%% - ﬂ@&ﬁMW%SQP:,LW@% HHENR IV EHE AV EY
Mmﬂﬁw«u\mNKEEW&,\%%I.,J.@QRMRWEN&H“K%&E%%EE/\% %%E@ENM%PK%&

: CEE
@ﬁ&&c.«c&gﬁwa&%mk<aa M AN ZEUTHN A YR TS NG FE M B
ARG BNEE YD YENERE eSS AE AR YN N USRS LD - N By
YREEAE-Y *j%@@@Mgwm@mﬁﬁg&ﬁ&m«%m.ﬁﬁ&&&ﬁﬁmw&%%«ﬁqﬁ.

w.w*@w@nmﬁwmﬂﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁh%mlﬂ%w%!ﬁ.
EE%.AQ%%EE:E.wm@ﬁm:ﬁk%mmuiﬁ.ﬁNéﬁ:&@%%m\&wxE% HEBRNZAFA RS Z
LR YRS BN WY N TR AR O AT RS EH YA I ARV I IR R FF
WHY YU AN EFNSOEE S S TR AW DT H T MDY

REBY (BSSULUTCL YK ) H 0 E
BB BEYS (BES) W BV R ME T M e BT (LRHLSH) W TH — LS+ %
HEE-SWR YRDOLEHHBABRH ISy W T (LRI HHHFEH URIPYUBERS

@%&&Nu&ﬁml.v o= +m«m%% N ﬁm«ﬁ@@ﬁ%%wﬁ@N%H%% TS YTBEYE

0 RUNHHHERD

(U HBOT: HMELE ) URYTEH
BME¥E- ﬂﬁﬂﬂ&m@j@@ﬁﬁ%l&ﬁﬁw:ﬁkﬁﬂ_ﬁﬂﬁcﬁ%m«@&_VauqzhmoNEﬂuw B &

AL

HYZH €49002

DN S .




.Rﬁ@oa~£€#ﬁﬂHm td 4 - ﬂﬁﬁ@@ﬁ&ﬁ&ﬂmunm‘

ﬁEa«%&E%M§M<HWSwo§EQ%

YR MTZHRY

. . @tﬁNﬁE&p$m<z§r<%m¢3 31
mNRﬂ@GoQ@ﬁEEMﬁ.mI#% H~4+=SH-iH5TEa-HA
SOYUUMEY G W (FRRMTLY) RPCERFHAE N F

EH DB SUB G BT ¥ A B S NG YR BT Y W6

.ﬂwxﬁuammwm%:m%

T4

wmvﬂnanﬂﬁﬂ%«mm«%mme.\v Ho+ 3 ETgH - HEBY®

FEHBYL DR U DA RER - L NOVSIZPIYBY WEBR
0 H} 1 3 % H000°SLh'9 L %Rﬁom:%w«gﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ/\% L=

BEW -

.&ﬁﬁ&m%WH%%@ME«M EQ*EJ%%
e g%%m& #ﬁﬁ&&E@EM%WNR@mSQW% HEH¥

< 5 88 4 48
mﬁm@%ﬁ&m) MR N M- BUW B ETHKHAT

BUBHBXRIETY - (LRBWRYE -+ SH I ST EHE
m«ﬁﬁ@%.N@ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ&Eﬂ,ﬁﬁﬁm&NﬁE%%ENE%%.

CHMEHR MR R R N Lk GH L

wﬂ&i@N.vmw‘Wﬁ AU HBESO: MR R T) U RHLIV G Gy (W
;ﬁNﬂﬁwfm_nﬁ%ﬂ &%@%% H-—+ZHT+HFTEEH

*EQEENE@@%@#E ﬁmmﬁq&wmku.__m@__wﬁ%%%m iy

YEMEATEEY
mawﬁwwﬁwﬁﬁg 5mawﬁwazmaumﬁﬁawm82v

U HBOOTI MY  FUMB A XL RBBIW MY G -3
a_.m.S M&ﬁER%ERS‘@&&ﬂ Rﬁ@mwvmW$NqﬁmHMM$

. CEBEUBEZURECODHEL YR
wﬁﬁ@mo.mﬂﬁﬁ%.mmwNﬁwwﬂK BUXVYEYRE YEHY
N PENIH EH
9 &u Wy

BB R A TN L WO DR E L2 20

CHEEBNY Y YA L TR RN E - SR U R B Y ST WM
1B - BUPHTHARTRUYHLE (YR LAY BBERIRYE))
HHELYMBERA YU T UL E YT YW R T RU G FTH
WHYE— RNBR%&E%%E#%%W%%&&&%&,\%%!

%.@ﬁLEE&@PH 22
w@ﬂ@ﬁﬁ.ﬁﬁﬂm%ﬁmﬁuﬂ P REH BT EMT Y EE R
HHEMYUPUYRETHEM S YU R PHANBEZEWZSE

¢ﬁlﬁ£ EﬁﬁEMW@\T‘ﬂQﬁ %@#HN%%%MHNW&&.

’ ’ . %#MHNE&%*%%
mawm_ﬁw\«mw&mm@_hma mﬁﬁH%l&uﬂ FUEWERHA X0
wkooﬁﬁwmmwmﬁﬂﬁﬁm«&ﬁ WEUCINZ W F W R

Y ESBRE W -BUIESI R FERY RN RN

; MY BFUBNE - HRCUYRRED D H Y E NS WL BHE
ﬁa%nwaﬁmngwwﬁagﬂgm:mwags&ﬁmwﬁ¢
BRHL @Ewg%mmw&mmﬁ UMMy HADWI AU WS

. COwH

T SE6'YOY

959'p59

T19'vz oo o . Trxos

zz0'08 )
TSy 856'€9 - X06 %19
¥BT'6LE L80°995 s © M0
Yt DY
HFHEEZ O HEIEES
’ . %nﬁa«ﬂﬁﬂ&gENmﬂﬁ%
ﬁ&@Nw%momwomﬁ,&%@*.&uwﬂﬁﬂC&ﬁﬁNER%
) . EEHEHE T ER R
L TTEWSS 99y p18‘85D'89p WA R AR ZHER S E Y
TSO'TLS L 161°696°T1 : HAZHWAM I NP RET
.oﬁu.mmm.\.i £79'68%°55D - u w:wa E«mﬂﬁ THEXTFHD AN i ::f
W wy
HHELT LTRE = o o
105'925 seo'zoL | . - HEZHERBT YRR EARY
Lgd vt . -
HWEET HLEE=
: ’ #tﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ__wwaﬁﬁ%m%@A
ﬁﬁ%@
CHUT B YL

159'081

K%@Eﬂ%ﬁm@&ﬁ.ﬁﬁbﬂemHégﬂuws»wﬂvéwn&wmgxﬁ

. T66'61T

PEOPIT o (MR- HFAEET)

688'€01 -
] METHS TR U X BENER
T9LIL $LESOT iy . MR FEEET)
’ ; ’ MHTHBIWH P EL T
LA HE AL ’
FHRXET SEEET :
: o -2
Noren G : , X1
o€ = . .Aﬁ«m<m5ﬂ@<tvmam<msﬂ@
152961 160°96T : ‘
8019 s1s'g o v O BRWHEEYE
€p9'grl - 9L5L8¥ S L Btz e L
. L (PHARYE) ¥WTH
811 - : - N Amumm<:~&ﬁ
TogLe yhE . . (HEEL YR BY-
SSv'6 ssp'e : (YWIBVYH) RYXYE
EATS .o9sPT o . WEMEL W
- 80L'G11 Vo6 srL . - BRY YW EB
: o HEYRATHBML
. L<t,ﬁa.m=*ﬂﬁ&*
xaL ¥k -
HREET HEB BT

ST HRHES¥
CBEHEOSZ (BYT R W) WA

%@E&W%ﬂ% &Wiﬁﬂ@h(!ﬁﬂ&ﬁ.& ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%iwﬂ@ﬂ.&#ﬁ
HERHAT VOEUNTH S FURSHI U DTS DI IHRGRIB R

T T IS Y T RO R AL a%mawzxs&uz
R e T 485 F T IATER ST T F I8 T EANE 2 S P

FEEEEEE




CMERA

60X A |
© 61E 90K
90EU L

685,095
38,014
31,596

342,951
21,656
41,838

754,705 406,445

EEEWMNRIAN .
BEOR

FRNLCOFHERENMEBBE T (ZFTTHUE: nfaiém:(azkﬁmﬁﬁﬁ%% #®
ZRFAFURNHA EEPERRRZLCDE &4 A{E76%K 13% - B L*
FHE RAECERETE AR EZL BEREELEAEY OX
R HEASEEEE R AN EEL R A ERER RN BB RN EEZREE

T BEARBMLCDESAREZBDFRTENRANES EXRARERZ
EMEBEREARSNERN282R153% BAMESCARET -B-HURREHNZ
HEBERBEAZHRZ B AL S ijw&gﬁiﬁﬁﬁzt%@%’aﬂci&ﬁﬁ
A (WMERRRSR) WREUEFEANEREBAE. .

PR Az BABATARNESZ R —HRA-FA ERFERT M
Rk RS R R 5 B2 0L IR B R A B AR B K Kk B B 4 2 B S LCDEE B
ZBEAE-MEBZHCTNRERRS RECEARSUAFERLE M-

CHEBRHEIR
REDE
SREEF

g2
F#T

LCDE &
F#T

BIHRE
Fi 7
. .
5t &

B &
AEER

B BA
RABZAARE ,
MEHEREZHRERR - S (1.800) . L=
VR -RERRBZBEER LT (6,317
HEHERRE - ) .
ki im%Aiﬁﬁ ‘ -

%ﬁﬁ’fﬁiﬂ) .
FHRXE

B 4kl
—eRAE

184,491 4,574,079

4,389,588

838,578 - 23,725 862,303

14,536
(1,092)
(7,800)
(6,377)
(382) (382)
S 841,505

i (139457)

T 702,048
——

BIBRS Ba

FHAT

LCDE E
FBT

ey
i

EY: |
SRR

B A
CRARZATRA.

3,138,393 268,599 " 3,406,992

618,989 2,625 621,614

1,477
(1,075)

S : : (14,201)
HE-ZBRALARE - IER 113
%ﬁﬁ‘ﬂﬁi‘l )
HBARXY

TEERH
HEIHE

607,928
(81,427)

- 526,501

ERESEESZERE
ZRBESF ZR®FNE
FHET F 4 T

3,433,919 2,265,565
587,569 443,167
175,194 241,350
147,980 - 135,207

119,132 113,778
110,285 207,925

i
m
R
DR
T
HA

14,574,079, 3,406,992

: E@’?EJ

(19,683)"

FHE
(EF)

RTINS B g

B2

ﬁ$?§§ﬁ§m§i§ $3£$+ H +—E¢$§ﬁﬁﬁﬂi257&ﬁh(”$$w
Fonli) TANRE EFACR-SEEE+A RS Z ¥ 5885 R 3% U
_(:3%@@:17%4&1)%fﬁ'ﬁifﬁﬂiz&»ﬁﬂﬁiﬁﬁmusiﬁim(:213@5?{40
#HAY . : -

ﬁﬁqzﬂlﬁ@nttﬁ'ﬁ?%ﬂ%» ﬂ&?ﬁiz%#ﬂvﬁ $E§E30%£35%ZM

EFNERORBRFBRTEHR
BROBFERFHARR-BFIAFLAIIWUBEZRRBAFHAC +/\El
(BEYEMA GERE - MHASEGCORGAFSRR -ARAKIBEWER
APRE ARG RAF XHERAHLR ERISEAFNAZF—BTSH
MHEA BERAATRMAFARETERBEERLA; ﬂm&%i&ér‘x
RIS KB = st

T EREEAR .
i $$A$%Kﬁ$iﬁ%# $¥f$i5+5ﬂﬁ meazm

EHERAEHRD .
BE HERREES
*’\Uﬁ}iﬂﬁ}ﬁ’*ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ)!ﬁﬁﬁﬁ HERWEARNDEF LW ESE

&wxﬂdggm%.»mmﬁmAmmfxﬂavamxgiﬁmqéﬁw

CEXRBHAERARDES WA (TLEHTAM]) Wﬁ+ﬁ)?ﬁ2hﬁi§§‘17)\§$A

ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ&eﬁ’%&‘é%ﬂﬂ

i&ﬁﬁﬁ

AATEEEEREREATH (TEAY) Zﬁ‘ﬁ]ﬁiﬁﬁf&ﬂ:ﬁ*ﬁ§ﬁﬁ
EEMEEERRATEARETRNBEN- éﬁﬁ‘iﬁﬁrﬂ%&éﬁﬁﬁ
M HELZESHR2U=LABILYTRFABREL (FATEIR) KA
FPHRENBFAVELE(ZRATRRA) URRGEFRALEE(ZRACRR)
BR-CFEGERIENORTH]- ) -

#iﬁ@Eiﬁiﬁiﬁﬁm%313&1&’3%—@i??ﬂlﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁiﬁ
ZHEEWEE. 21‘"‘5Eﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁ#ﬂﬁﬁ$ﬁl&mﬁ)\t-

FPHEAGRREEAY -
ZF/\:JEJ&&?R'Z*EM&E%?‘!&E%M§E?&&%§EQ RMEZAS
MEABYLFARTETAB AL HTER - SAEZF AR ARHEHFRLER
Eﬂiﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁi‘(ﬁﬁﬁ]ﬁﬁ#%ﬁ.ﬁﬁg)u&vﬁ'ﬂf‘éﬁf’aé(zﬁz‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&)-

ERERE

BE-ZZRE+_AZ '2‘*‘5&:553 2#32@ ERFR-RBEE— H*

BAMZ I RANET RN R TR RTONBZAARATNEX &
UTEARZ KN

LM RALE—ERERARSRIBAAT M - Ad A~ A (AT

GEVEE - BECHENBTER USBEELLATHEZIERFE .

L EFABALERMACUESERRLAEER ZIMZBIRARMER
EOEREUEBHEARBDERERAAMTRETRR B

2 FAIRXE ALk — ﬁﬂ#ﬁﬁﬁ$§t%§ﬁiﬁﬁi§& f&’ﬁﬁfﬁﬂﬂiﬂ
ﬂ(f&fﬂ‘igﬂ{f- '

3. FREXSALK— ntﬁwwxam mrmﬁmgamﬁ§&zmﬁ»_
BNCREESHEL L2 ENBERA X MEL4EREARIEEE
?&rﬁﬁ%i&—&ntﬁﬂmiux&ﬁﬁ&ﬁ&ﬁi?@ﬂﬁﬁiﬁfﬁxggﬁmﬁm

AL BIYEN T -2EBAHGFER YARMABET-AUEH
BXZEOTMRELA_SSAEREBFXRGLRE, uﬁAﬂ*ﬁu‘ﬁi’
iﬁAAH&&%P:Aaz{ﬁ-

AEARRREWER
ZF/\"]ﬁ*ﬁé BEEE+ A=+ HLEEER— Eﬁ(ﬁ?’%ﬂﬁz"iﬁﬁ}&t

£y
O RARBETRNAEZ A RN S RIEER %Wﬁ&ﬂﬁ%w
%07 B A ‘
REEeS
EY-
HEw
FW CEEAESACSTEZA

RELHEBL ﬁlﬁﬁﬂféﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁfi HHESELE RELEERT
BESEL U&ﬁﬁ#ﬁﬁﬁéfﬁﬁ)ﬁ%éﬁ ﬁ(ﬁ%%i&ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁi-




e

— I ——

LSP'6ET

S9E'8T

ozs'e)
. 0eg
(058°p)
9Tl
" pst

199'€L
L69'05

K gt
= ZTRE=

€89°61
[A¢
. 99b°61

2 £8
= ER:S % =

.ﬂ=mﬂEE%#%ENKE%&@%&%WE&T&QWQ%
nE«NMMEEﬁumﬂﬁ&Eﬁ& BUNHNG
LR!N%&MN&@%&&.S&N&% i

NP REYMATTE " GYEM ODA) $E

HEATHET CBLEERSIBBERE

IR A Y WHHEEIBRARE

. : (¥ ) Wes G

(WEBEUT waﬁxﬁwmsﬂmxﬂ:a&w

Dk (RO ey eI RE

LN HEENTEZ G AR (W) WOEKMF NSRS
M HEHZAENY (R BH) Bl MaNIRE

CEHS BTSSR E TSR E AR TN S B WS

Nﬁﬁﬁﬁtaﬁ NEEY -

'
T EE

B th
R

H%EE Aﬁﬁgﬂvﬂu«ﬁj

BRHEBHH
s

#E
AT E

REXws

wwxw
HBLBTRB RSN H TN

CEIE

R332

«mMEwwH&Nﬂ&ﬁNﬁmlm HNEETH . .
EELES B S N T B ¢
CRFURISTHHEBTED -3 R z

ﬁHESH%N.&E&NﬁmIm ERS * =h::] '

WO KT O #E
BOE/MH ORI R &

(YR WOl EMA RS HE
TH B . (YRR BIHEURRBRE

..,ﬂ&KHWﬂW@ﬁRN%%%EHﬂ#N%_‘_mm%a!m&ﬂﬁﬂuﬂﬁm»ﬂ
Q&QENQM%E&w&wﬁﬂK.ﬁEME&% &ﬁ%:aﬁi.w#ﬂ*m:&gmE%EE%H&%E«%

- SL5'E60'T . = £75°660'1 . c BAHIXUE
) 966 - 966 . BURBY
966 LT5'T60'1 - (27601 ’ s (2450
) E 169'106 - L6906 o o awumN.mum
o0t - - - ’ T TR
(008'L) 008'L - - 008'L . CHBEE
s . . o o BATREHMGHIUL
- 4706 06 . o } whEEHE
= 59608 . (56206 ‘Leg'een - ) CHBT AN G
- e : . CRATWOIE AU
v . L HEEBYEK
L@gL . o gL L@t o
unE (MX) .. Be - (lgw) .
o B-t+EH=4 B-+=gs4-
3 § u«lwu # Haww H

%u«ﬁﬁﬁﬂtuw‘mlm .&H&uw YH-— 4TI 5MEET &:n&&ﬁ«f&ﬁ@ﬁmmﬁ
wﬁumNEﬂﬁ@/xtEw«&EEQ

%X m«l&&lvﬁﬁooom:__nu«.mﬁﬁﬁ&% BHEURHBIBTHS

Wi OMNd) §#E

HAB A MPTRE ~f —SE AR G W&

(G HANSEFIHB XD BT ((HGRBRE))
[GEER R 3-8 :__mﬁ‘wﬁﬁ.cnm?m‘:__m&‘w#&—&ﬁwzﬁw‘ﬁﬁ«#(mmtﬁﬂmm%m&&%%a## M N o
. : EQM@%E%WEQ@ME&EQ C .

CHELBYBKN - WH
. QEE %9 @Wﬁ%*&ﬂ_@ﬂ:‘auq:%hﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ&%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬂNE(EE# BYWHBRR YU BT ¥

. E .&.MmuﬁNE(%ﬁéR@E HEXRUEHRNES
.E%;ul:%ﬂ«ql‘_5&&3§Nﬁﬁ¥ﬂmﬂﬂﬂ“$%ﬁﬁ<ﬂ AT (TWX@)) eoeeEea

H4$§..Wu~$%_wﬂ BrHEETN—YRy - BYHEEN- ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂgﬁﬁl\ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁE#ﬂxmﬂrzxﬁ

U S

6E6°LOV'T SPO‘8€6°T
1LL'T9E'L 6T2'768°T
$91'sy 918'sH
. 6S6Lop'T SHO'8E6T
ZIL'THT | 60L°L8T
CoLe'sl 0ST'g¢ "
620'81¢7 6S5'6vC
£Le's -
1€9'059°t bsusTT'T
ceroze LT1'PS6
962'8SL 9THT0T'T
1L9°61 LE6'IBI
9zE'S -
9€8'6¥ 82L'86 ) :
£97'805 19L°1T6 6
L 69m'RLY' L ESS'9STT
e8E°9LY 9EL'8bS
sov'l - L96'T
Lo 243
005'1 - .
7£8'0SS EST'ESL - : 8-
€T - 95b'T C
.008'sPy P66‘6yS
8LY'0E6 LTYTILTT
- 265'09
— 347
‘008t -
§8T°1 980'1
€1 B O
96L'8T TOp'61
7£5°88 . L9'86
769'€08 .. TSPI60T
(IEE) v
UG E ¥t HiY -
SHMIET HTART
92U HETT L POS'T
XY gps'y

W

ﬁmaww@mmwmd&ﬁm@

s

L2
- YW
L2 R a2

BUNMWER
¥HILB

AW B W
[a-7" 3%

WY ERERBE T

BRIAMEY

- ML
1208 4
Hymy

ERHHHHTEH YN
wymy

suYEYLY
W% E o

EREIRAE—NE

Y8 3 Xh & i B

MR FWHETEHAY

HEREBRHE
A
#FrER

ﬁ%tM&ﬁ%mﬁ CEGEDR

AT §
YT
HEHERWDE

HEHZEwAAE-

#u

EL ¥t
MEHBNE
BT EH ER
ER Y- K8

ml.+.w.%w.+mww.uw%..u,w
BREUEHSYRER

Y -
*®




w1

TRULY INTERNATIONAL H

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 0732)

FORM OF PROXY FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
OR ANY ADJOURNMENT THEREOF

I/ We',
of
being the registered holder(s) of" shares of HK$0.10 each in the capital
of Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), HEREBY APPOINT'" the Chairman of the Meeting
or
of
as my/our proxy to act for me/us at the Annual General Meeting of the Company (or any adjournment thereof)
to be held at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong
Kong on Wednesday, 10 May 2006 at 10: 30 a.m. for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the
proposed resolutions set out in the Notice convening the Meeting and at such Meeting (or at any adjournment
thereof) to vote for me/us and my/our name(s) in respect of the resolutions as hereunder indicated, and, if no
such indication is given, as my/our proxy thinks fit.

RESOLUTIONS FOR"Y AGAINSTY

1. | To receive and consider the Financial Statements and the Reports of the
Directors and the Auditors for the year ended 31 December 2005.

2. | To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005.

3. To elect Directors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their
remuneration.

- Wong Pong Chun, James

—  Cheung Tat Sang, James

4. | To appoint Auditors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their
remuneration.

5. | To approve the Ordinary Resolutions (A) to (C) as set out in the Notice
of Annual General Meeting:

Ordinary Resolution (A) (A) (A)

Ordinary Resolution (B) (B) (B)

Ordinary Resolution (C) © ©
6. | To approve the Ordinary Resolution as set out in the Notice of Annual

General Meeting.

7. | To approve the Special Resolution as set out in the Notice of Annual
General Meeting.

Dated this day of 2006 Signature"

Notes:

I Full name(s) and address(es) to be inserted in BLOCK CAPITALS. The names of all joint holders should be stated.

1L Please insert the number of shares registered in your name(s) and to which this form of proxy relates. If no number is inserted,
this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares in the capital of the Company registered in your name(s).

1L If any proxy other than the Chairman of the Meeting is preferred, strike out the words “the Chairman of the Meeting or” and

insert the name and address of the proxy desired in the space provided. The proxy need not be a member of the Company but
must attend the Meeting in person to represent you. ANY ALTERATION MADE TO THIS FORM OF PROXY MUST BE
INITIALED BY THE PERSON WHO SIGNS IT.

Iv. IMPORTANT: IF YOU WISH TO VOTE FOR THE RESOLUTION, TICK IN THE BOX MARKED “FOR”. IF YOU WISH TO
VOTE AGAINST THE RESOLUTION, TICK IN THE BOX MARKED “AGAINST”. Failure to tick either box will entitle your
proxy to cast your vote at his discretion. Your proxy will also be entitled to vote at his discretion on any amendment of a
resolution put to the Meeting.

V. This form of proxy must be signed by you or your attorney duly authorised in writing or, in the case of a corporation, must be
either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised to sign the same.

VL To be valid, this form of proxy, together with the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a
notarially certified copy thereof, must be lodged at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 2/F., Chung Shun Knitting
Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for
the holdings of Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

VIL In the case of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be
accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders, and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order
in which the names stand in the Register of Members of the Company in respect of the joint holding.

VIII.  Completion and return of this form of proxy will not preclude you from attending the Meeting if you so wish. In the event that
you, having lodged this form of proxy, attend the Meeting, this form of proxy will be deemed to have been revoked.
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TRULY INTERNA“TIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorpo_rate ”;-n ‘the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
’ (Stock Code: 0732)

FORM. OF PROXY FOR EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
A OR ANY ADJOURNMENT THEREOF

being the registered holder(s) of" shares of HK$0.10 each in the capital of
Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) HEREBY APPOINT™ the Chairman of the extraordinary

general meeting of the Company (the “Meeting”) or

of

as my/our proxy to act for me/us at the Meeting (or any adjournment thereof) to be held at 2nd Floor, Chung
Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong on Friday, 19 May 2006 at
10:30 a.m. for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the proposed resolution set out in the
Notice convening the Meeting and at such Meeting (or at any adjournment thereof) to vote for me/us on my/our

behalf

at the Meeting in respect of the resolution as hereunder indicated, and, if no such indication is given, as

my /our proxy thinks fit,

RESOLUTION FORY AGAINSTY

1(A)

To approve the proposal for Truly Semiconductors Limited to enter
into a Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement with Nakan Corporation
and the transactions contemplated thereunder.

1(B) | To approve the proposed purchase and installation of ancillary
facilities and infrastructure and the transactions contemplated
thereunder.

Datedthis ___ dayof _ 2006. Signature’
Notes:

L
II.

11

Iv.

VL

VIIL

VIIL

Full name(s)‘and address(es) to be inserted in BLOCK CAPITALS. The names of all joint holders should be stated.

Please insert the number of shares registered in your name(s) and to which this form of proxy relates. If no number is
inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares in the capital of the Company registered in your
name(s).

If any proxy other than the Chairman of the Meeting is preferred, strike out the words “the Chairman of the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company (the “Meeting”) or” and insert the name and address of the proxy desired to be
appointed in the space provided. The proxy need not be @ member of the Company but must attend the Meeting in
person to represent you. ANY ALTERATION MADE TO THIS FORM OF PROXY MUST BE INITIALED BY THE
PERSON WHO SIGNS IT.

IMPORTANT: IF YOU WISH TO VOTE FOR THE RESOLUTION, TICK IN THE BOX MARKED “FOR”. IF YOU
WISH TO VOTE AGAINST THE RESOLUTION, TICK IN THE BOX MARKED “AGAINST”. Failure to tick either
box will entitle your proxy to cast your vote at his discretion. Your proxy will also be entitled to vote at hlS discretion
on any amendment of a resolution put to the Meeting.

This form of proxy must be signed by you or your attorney duly authorised in writing or, in the case of a corporation,
must be signed either under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised to sign the
same.

To be valid, this form of proxy, together with the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed
or a notarially certified copy thereof, must be lodged at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 2/F., Chung
Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong, not less than 48 hours before the
time appointed for the holding of the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

In the case of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be
accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders, and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by
the order in which the names stand in the Register of Members of the Company in respect of the joint holding.

Completion and return of this form of proxy will not preclude you from attending the Meeting if you so wish. In the
event that you, having lodged this form of proxy, attend the Meeting, this form of proxy will be deemed to have been
revoked.




SHEARMAN & STERLING we

Avocats au Barreau de Paris

114, AVENUE DES CHAMPS-ELYSEES | 75008 PARIS

WWW.SHEARMAN.COM | T +33.1.53.89.70.00 | F +33.1.53.89.70.70 | TOQUE J006

May 30, 2006

By Hand Delivery

Securities and Exchange Commission
Office of International Corporate Finance
450 Fifth Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20549

US.A. '

Arcelor
Information Pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b)
File No. 82-34727

Dear Sir or Madam,

On behalf of Arcelor SA (“Arcelor”) and pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, please find enclosed a press release announcing Arcelor’s plans to
merge with SeverStal.

Please acknowledge receipt of this letter and its enclosures by time-stamping the enclosed copy
of this letter and returning it to our messenger, who has been instructed to wait.

Please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned (collect) in Paris at (011-33)1-53-89-70-00
should you have any questions.

Very truly yours,

Manuel Orillac

Enclosure
cc: Regis Ramseyer
Arcelor SA

ABU DHABI | BELING | BRUXELLES | DUSSELDORF 1| FRANCFORT | HONG KONG | LONDRES | MANNHEIM 1 MENLO PARK
MUNICH | NEW YORK | PARIS | ROME | SAN FRANCISCO | SAG PAULO | SINGAPOUR | TOKYO | TORONTO | WASHINGTON, DC

SHEARMAN & STERLING EST UN PARTNERSHIP & RESPONSABILITE LIMITEE CONSTITUE AUX ETATS-UNIS DYAMERIQUE EN VERTU DES LOIS DE L'ETAT DU DELAWARE, CES LOIS LIMITANT LA RESPONSABILITE PERSONNELLE DES ASSOCIES.



SeverStal

Praess release

Arcelor to merge with Severstal

s Transaction will create the world’s steel champion and the most profitable steel
company

¢ Arcelor valued at EUR44 per share (excluding dividend)

Luxembourg and Moscow, May 26, 2006 — Arcelor, the world’s number one steel company, and
Severstal, the largest Russian steel company, announced today that they have agreed to merge,
creating the world’s stee! champion and most profitable steel company. The combined company will
rank amongst the world's most competitive steelmaking and resource assets in both developed and
emerging markets, and will be the only one with leading positions in Brazil and Russia.

* Transaction highlights

The transaction values Arcelor at EUR44 per share, excluding EUR 1.85 dividend, representing a
premium of 100% over Arcelor's closing price on January 26, 2006, the day before Mittal Steel
announced its hostile offer, and 36.6% over Arcelor’s closing price ex-dividend on May 25, 2006.

In addition, up to EUR?7.6 billion cash will be returned to shareholders, including via dividends and
OPRA (self tender).

The combination of Arcelor and Severstal will be the Number 1 steel company in the world with
EURA486 billion in sales, EURS billion in EBITDA and 70 million tonnes of production, based on each
company’s pro forma 2005 resulits.

Under the definitive agreements signed by the parties,

> Alexey A. Mordashov, Severstal's controlling shareholder, will contribute all of his economic
interests in Severstal's steel business (including Severstal North America), as well as
Severstal-Resource (iron ore and coal assets) and his ownership interest in ltalian
steelmaker Lucchini, to Arcelor.

> Mr. Mordashov will also contribute a cash payment of EUR1.25 billion to Arcelor in exchange
for shares at a price of EUR44 per share.

» In total, Mr. Mordashov will receive 295 million newly issued Arcelor shares at a price of
' EUR44 per share, representing approximately 32% of the enlarged Arcelor.
> Arcelor’s existing shareholders will retain approximately 68% of the enlarged Arcelor.

¢ Creating a Global Steel Champion

The combined entity will consolidate Arcelor’s technology leadership and experience and will be the
undisputed world leader in all product segments including flat carbon steel, long carbon steel and
distribution. The combination will strengthen Arcelor's Number 1 global position in the automotive
steel segment (with Number 1 positions worldwide with a global market share over 20% - more than
double that of its nearest competitor).




SeverStal

The combined company will offer an exceptional, balanced geographic presence with leadership
both in developed and emerging markets and in particular will:

» Be Number 1 in Europe, Russia and South America
> Take advantage of its leading position in North America
> Further grow strong industrial presence and partnerships globally

With geographically batanced contributions, over 40% of 2005 pro forma EBITDA generated in Brazil
‘and Russia.

The two companies have a longstanding relationship and know each other well from their Russian
joint-ventures which include the Severgal galvanizing plant in Cherepovets, wire drawing operations
in Orél and various industrial cooperation projects.

The combination of high value-added products, low-cost operations and ownership of key raw
materials will result in a combined company with one of the highest profit margins in the industry,
generating a 2005 pro forma EBITDA per tonne of EUR130. The combined company will have
outstanding resilience through the steel cycle.

e Compelling Value Creation for Shareholders

Targeted normalized EBITDA of EUR10 billion

Accretive on earnings as early as 2006, before synergies

Synergies of EUR590 miillion and potentially more from capital expenditures
ROCE above Arcelor’s current 15% target

Strong balance sheet allowing financial flexibility for growth and consolidation

Up to EUR?7.6 billion cash to be returned to shareholders including dividends and OPRA (self
tender)

VVVYVYVYY

Continuation of Arcelor’s Best Practice Corporate Governance Model

1 share, 1 vote

All board members are non-executive

18 board members, at least 9 being independent

3 board committees (Audit, Nomination and Remuneration, Strategy)
o All Audit Committee Members independent

o New Strategic Committee to be chaired by Mr. Mordashov
o Independent Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

> Mr. Joseph Kinsch and Mr. Guy Dollé will continue to serve as Arcelor's Chairman of the
Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer, respectively, and Arcelor's executive
management will remain in place, supplemented by Severstal executives.

» Mr. Mordashov will become non-executive President of the Arcelor Board of Directors. He will
have the right to nominate 6 out of 18 directors on the Arcelor Board of Directors. Mr.
Mordashov has agreed to vote his shares in accordance with the recommendations of the
Board of Directors. In addition, he has committed to a standstill on Arcelor shares for 4 years
and to a lock-up for 5 years.

YV VYV

The transaction is subject to antitrust approvals, which the parties expect will be obtained shortly.
The transaction is expected to close in July 2006, subject to obtaining regulatory approvals.




Arcelor shareholders will have the opportunity to express their choice about this transaction at a
shareholders meeting. Unless more than 50% of the currently outstanding shares opposes this
transaction, the transaction will go forward and is expected to be finalized by the end of July.

Arcelor's Board of Directors was given a presentation by the advisors of the company and also

received a fairness opinion from its own financial advisor in connection with the Arcelor/Severstal
transaction.

Mr. Joseph Kinsch, Chairman of Arcelor’'s Board of Directors, said: “Arcelor’s Board of Directors
believes that the merger with Severstal fully recognizes the value inherent in Arcelor, and offers
Arcelor shareholders superior industrial logic, greater value and the highest standards of corporate

governance compared to Mittal Steel’s offer. Therefore we believe this deal is in the best interests of
Arcelor’s shareholders.

Mr. Alexey A. Mordashov, Severstal’'s Chairman and controlling shareholder, said: “/ am delighted
about our merger with Arcelor. Arcelor is a superb company with highly successful management,
world-class assets that produces extremely high quality products. Severstal’s top management team,
highly profitable assets and low cost operations, together with Arcelor’s attributes, will position the
combined company to lead the way in the consolidation of the steel industry”.

Mr. Guy Dollé, Chief Executive Officer of Arcelor said: “The merger with Severstal represents a
breakthrough transaction for Arcelor that positions the combined company in the forefront of the
international steel industry. The transaction is consistent with Arcelor’s strategy of value before
volume, and was negotiated in the best interest of both groups. The merger is consistent with
Arcelor’s growth strategy in the BRIC markets. We are creating a truly extraordinary growth platform
for investors and a much better choice for our shareholders. We are confident that they will support
the Arcelor way’. He added: “Long-lasting relationships, existing successful partnerships and a

friendly approach guarantee limited risks of execution and therefore increase the chances to make
this merger a massive success”.




SeverStal

About Arcelfor

Arcelor is the number one steel company in the world with a turnover of 32.6 billion euros in 2005. The company holds leadership
positions in its main markets: automotive, consiruction, household appliances and packaging as well as general industry. The company -
number one steel producer in Europe and Latin America - ambitions to further expand internationally in order to capture the growth
potential of developing economies and offer technolegically advanced steel solutions to its global customers. In 2006, Arcelor employs
110,000 associates in over 60 countries. The company places its commitment to sustainable development at the heart of its strategy and
ambitions to be a benchmark for economic performance, labour relations and social responsibility.

About Severstal

Severstal is the largest Russian steel producer, with 2005 annual steel production of 17.1 million tonnes. It is the second largest fiat steel
producer in Russia with annual steel production of 10.9 million tonnes. In addition, Severstal owns Severstal North America, the fifth
largest integrated steel maker in the U.S. with 2005 production of 2.7 million tonnes, and Lucchini, Italy's second largest steel group with
2005 production of 3.5 miflion tonnes. Severstal is one of the world’s lowest cost and most profitable steel producers, with 2005 EBITDA
per tonne of approximately 150 euros per tonne.

Severstal-Resource owns 70 years of iron ore reserves and 84 years of coal reserves. 2005 revenue and EBITDA were approximately
EUR1.12 billion and EURS506 million, respectively. Severstal-Resource produces coking coal, thermal coal, iron ore pellets and iron ore
concentrate.

Note to the editor:

A press conference will take place on Frday May 26 at 14.00 CEST (12.00 GMT) at Arcelor's
headquarters in Luxembourg, at the following address:

19, avenue de la Liberté

L-2930 Luxembourg

The press conference will also be webcast: for details please check http://press.arcelor.com

selor.com




THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action to be taken, you
should consult your stockbroker or other registered dealer, bank manager, solicitor,
professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in Truly International Holdings Limited,
you should at once hand this circular, together with the enclosed form of proxy, to the
purchaser or other transferee or to the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom
the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this
circular, makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this circular.

TRULY®

TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 0732)

GENERAL MANDATES
TO ISSUE AND REPURCHASE SHARES,
RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS,
REFRESHMENT OF THE SCHEME MANDATE
' AND
AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES

A letter from the Board of Directors of Truly International Holdings Limited is set out on
pages 3 to 7 of this circular. A notice convening the Annual General Meeting of Truly
International Holdings Limited to be held at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3
Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong on Wednesday, 10 May 2006 at
10:30 a.m. (or any adjournment thereof), is set out on pages 13 to 18 of this circular.

Whether or not they intend to attend the said meeting, Shareholders are requested to
complete and return the enclosed form of proxy in accordance with the instructions printed
thereon to the Company’s principal office at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3
Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong as soon as possible and in any
event not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or any
adjourned meeting thereof. Completion and return of the form of proxy shall not preclude
Shareholders from attending and voting at the meeting or any adjourned meeting should
they so desire.

12 April 2006
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DEFINITIONS

In this circular,
requires otherwise:

" AGM//

“Articles”

“Company”

“Director(s)”

“Eligible Person”

the following expressions have the following meanings unless the context

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held
at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing
Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong
on Wednesday, 10 May 2006 at 10:30 a.m., notice of
which is set out on pages 13 to 18 of this circular

the articles of association of the Company

Truly International Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability and the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange

the director(s) of the Company
any person falling within one of the following classes:

(i) any director or proposed director (whether
executive or non-executive, including any
independent non-executive director) or full-time
employee of any member of the Group or any
Controlling Shareholder or any company
controlled by a Controlling Shareholder (a
“Category A Eligible Person”); or

(ii) any holder of any securities issued by any
member of the Group or any Controlling
Shareholder or any company controlled by a
Controlling Shareholder (a “Category B Eligible
Person”); or

(iii) (a) any business or joint venture partner,
contractor, agent or representative of,

(b) any supplier of goods or services to, or

(c) any customer or distributor of goods or
services of,

any member of the Group or any
Controlling Shareholder or a company
controlled by a Controlling Shareholder (a
“Category C Eligible Person”);




DEFINITIONS

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Scheme Mandate”

“Share(s)”

“Share Option Scheme”

“Shareholder(s)”
“Stock Exchange”

“Takeovers Code”

“Terminated Scheme”

HHK$H

and, for the purposes of the New Scheme, shall
include any company controlled by one or more
persons belonging to any of the above classes of
persons

7 April 2006, being the latest practicable date prior to
the printing of this circular for ascertaining certain
information for inclusion in this circular

the Rules Governing The Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange

the maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of options available to be granted
by the Directors on behalf of the Company from time
to time under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company
the share option scheme of the Company adopted by
ordinary resolution of the Company passed on 22
December 2003

at any time means the holder(s) of Shares at that time

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Repurchases

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on
22 May 2001 and terminated by ordinary resolution of
the Company passed on 22 December 2003

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region



LETTER FROM THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

TRULY®

TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 0732)

Directors: Registered Office:
Lam Wai Wah, Steven P.O. Box 309
Wong Pong Chun, James Grand Cayman
Cheung Tat Sang, James Cayman Islands

Li Jian Hua British West Indies

Ip Cho Ting, Spencer*
Heung Kai Sing*
Chung Kam Kwong*

(* Independent non-executive)

12 April 2006
To the Shareholders
Dear Sir or Madam,

GENERAL MANDATES
TO ISSUE AND REPURCHASE SHARES,
RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS,
REFRESHMENT OF THE SCHEME MANDATE
AND
AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this circular is to provide Shareholders with information relevant to
(i) the proposed general mandates to be obtained by the Shareholders for the issue and
repurchase of Shares; (ii) re-election of Directors; (iii) the proposed refreshment of the
Scheme Mandate; and (iv) the proposed amendments to the Articles. A notice of annual
general meeting of the Company to be convened to consider and, if thought fit, to pass
resolutions in connection with the above matters is set out on pages 13 to 18 of this
circular.
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GENERAL MANDATES TO ISSUE AND REPURCHASE SHARES

Ordinary resolutions will be proposed at the AGM (i) to grant a general mandate to
the Directors to issue, allot and otherwise deal with Shares representing up to a maximum
of 20 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of passing of the
resolution (the “General Mandate”) and (ii) to approve the addition to the maximum
number of Shares issuable under the General Mandate of any Shares repurchased by the
Company under the authority of the Repurchase Mandate (as defined below). The Directors
have no present intention to issue any new Shares.

An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the AGM in respect of the granting to
the Directors, in the terms set out in the notice of AGM, of a mandate to exercise the
powers of the Company to repurchase its own Shares on the Stock Exchange at any time
during the period ending on the earliest of (i) the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company, (ii) the date upon which such authority is revoked or varied at a
general meeting of the shareholders and (iii) the date by which the next annual general
meeting of the Company is required to be held by laws or the Articles, provided that the
aggregate nominal amount of the Shares to be repurchased shall not exceed 10% of the
aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue at the date of the
passing of the relevant resolution (the “Repurchase Mandate”).

As at 7 April 2006, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this
document, the number of Shares in issue was 458,454,527. Accordingly, assuming no
repurchase or issue of Shares prior to the AGM, the exercise of the General Mandate in
full would enable the Company to issue and otherwise deal with up to 91,690,905 new
Shares and the exercise of the Repurchase Mandate in full would enable the Company to
repurchase up to 45,845,452 Shares in the Stock Exchange.

An explanatory statement to provide relevant information in respect of the
Repurchase Mandate is set out in Appendix I to this circular.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

According to Article 120 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting of the Company and
the retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

In addition, according to Article 100, any Director appointed by the Board of Directors
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board of Directors or as an addition to the existing
Board of Directors shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

In accordance with Article 120, Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James and Mr. Cheung Tat
Sang, James shall retire from their offices by rotation at the AGM.
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Being eligible, Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James and Mr. Cheung Tat Sang, James will
offer themselves for re-election as Directors. At the AGM, an ordinary resolution will be
proposed to re-elect each of Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James and Mr. Cheung Tat Sang, James
as Director.

Particulars relating to Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James and Mr. Cheung Tat Sang, James
are set out in Appendix II to this circular.

REFRESHMENT OF THE SCHEME MANDATE

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 December 2003, an
ordinary resolution was passed by the Shareholders for the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme and termination of the Terminated Scheme.

Apart from the Share Option Scheme and the Terminated Scheme, the Company has
no other share option scheme. As at the Latest Practicable Date, options carrying the
rights to subscribe for up to a total of 44,000,000 Shares have been granted and remain
exercisable under the Share Option Scheme and options carrying the rights to subscribe
for up to 13,805,000 Shares were previously granted under the Terminated Schemes and
remain exercisable. No further options may be granted under the Terminated Schemes.

Under the rules of the Share Option Scheme, among others:

(A) Subject to sub-paragraph (B), (C) and (D) below, the maximum number of
Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company (excluding,
for this purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company)
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at 22 December
2003 (when the Share Option Scheme was adopted). The Shares underlying
any options granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes of the Company which have been cancelled (but not options which
have lapsed) will be counted for the purpose of the Scheme Mandate.

(B) The Scheme Mandate may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of
the Shareholders in general meeting provided that the new limit under the
refreshed Scheme Mandate must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue at the
date of the Shareholders’ approval of such refreshed Scheme Mandate. Options
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes of the Company (including those exercised, outstanding, cancelled or
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes of the Company) will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the refreshed Scheme Mandate.
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(C) The Company may also, by obtaining separate approval of the Shareholders
in general meeting, grant options beyond the Scheme Mandate provided the
options in excess of the limit of the Scheme Mandate are granted only to
Eligible Persons specifically identified by the Company before such approval
is sought. A circular must be sent to the Shareholders containing, among other
things, a generic description of the specified Eligible Persons who may be
granted such options, the number and terms of the options to be granted, the
purpose of granting options to the specified Eligible Persons, together with an
explanation as to how the terms of the option serve such purposes.

(D) The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

The existing Scheme Mandate has allowed the Directors to grant options in respect
of 44,425,952 Shares, being 10% of the Shares of the Company in issue as at the date of
approval of the existing Scheme Mandate at the annual general meeting held on 22
December 2003. Since the approval of the existing Scheme Mandate and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, options carrying the rights to subscribe for up to a total of 44,000,000
Shares (representing approximately 9.9% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval
of existing Scheme Mandate) have been granted under the Share Option Scheme none of
which has been exercised, cancelled or lapsed. All these options were granted on 26
February 2004 and are in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme. Unless
the Scheme Mandate is “refreshed”, only up to 425,952 Shares may be issued pursuant to
the grant of the remaining options which the Directors are permitted under the Scheme
Mandate to grant under the Share Option Scheme.

If the Scheme Mandate is “refreshed”, on the basis of 458,454,527 Shares in issue as
at the Latest Practicable Date and assuming that, prior to the AGM no Shares will be
issued or repurchased by the Company, the Scheme Mandate (as refreshed) will allow the
Company to grant further options under the Share Option Scheme and other share option
schemes carrying the rights to subscribe for a maximum of 45,845,452 Shares, being 10%
of the Shares then in issue as at the AGM, but no options may be granted under any share
option scheme(s) of the Company if the aggregate number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised exceed 30% of the
Shares in issue from time to time.

The Directors propose to seek Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM of
the “refreshment” of the Scheme Mandate in order that the Company will have the
flexibility of issuing further options under the Share Option Scheme so as to reward and
incentivise suitable Eligible Persons, including those whom the Group may wish to seek
to employ in the future. The Directors including the independent non-executive directors
consider that the “refreshment” is beneficial to the Shareholders as a whole.
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Application will be made to the Stock Exchange by the Company for the approval of
the listing of and permission to deal in Shares representing a maximum of 10% of the
Shares in issue as at the date of the AGM, which may be issued pursuant to the exercise of
the options under the Share Option Scheme to be granted under the refreshed Scheme
Mandate, and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company.

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES

The relevant amendments to the Listing Rules in relation to the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code”) came into effect in January 2005.

The Board proposes that certain provisions in the Articles be amended so as to align
the Articles with the relevant provisions under the Code. Opportunity is also taken to
clarify potential ambiguities in certain provisions in the Articles. The proposed amendments
to the Articles are in relation to, among other matters, retirement of Directors by rotation,
details of which are set out in the notice of the AGM on pages 13 to 18 of this circular.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

A notice convening the AGM for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit,
passing the resolutions as set out on pages 13 to 18 of this circular. A form of proxy is
enclosed for use by Shareholders at the AGM. Shareholders are requested to complete and
return the form of proxy to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories,
Hong Kong as soon as possible, but in any event not later than 48 hours before the time
appointed for the holding of the AGM or any adjournment thereof. The lodging of a form
of proxy will not preclude a Shareholder from attending the AGM and voting in person
should he so wish.

RECOMMENDATION

The Directors believe that the General Mandates to issue and repurchase shares, the
re-election of Directors, refreshment of the Scheme Mandate and amendments to the Articles
are in the best interests of the Company. Accordingly the Directors recommend that you
vote in favour of each of the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of the Board of
Truly International Holdings Limited
LAM WAI WAH, STEVEN
Chairman




APPENDIX I EXPLANATORY STATEMENT

The following is the Explanatory Statement required to be sent to shareholders by the
Listing Rules in relation to the proposed granting to the Directors of General Mandates and the
Repurchase Mandate.

REPURCHASE MANDATE

It is proposed that up to 10 per cent. of the fully-paid Shares in issue as at the date
of the passing of the resolution to approve the Repurchase Mandate may be repurchased
if such resolution is passed.

As at 7 April 2006, being the Latest Practicable Date, the number of Shares in issue
was 458,454,527. Accordingly, the exercise of the Repurchase Mandate in full would enable
the Company to repurchase up to 45,845,452 fully-paid Shares.

Reasons for repurchases

The Directors believe that it is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders for the Directors to have a general authority from shareholders to repurchase
Shares in the market. Repurchases of Shares will only be made when and to the extent
that the Directors believe that such repurchases will benefit the Company and its
shareholders. Repurchases may, depending on market conditions and funding arrangements
at the time, lead to an enhancement of the value of the Shares and/ or the earnings per
Share.

Funding of repurchases

In repurchasing Shares, the Company may only apply funds legally available for
such purpose in accordance with its memorandum and articles of association and the laws
of the Cayman Islands. It is envisaged that the funds required for any repurchase would
be derived from the capital paid up on the Shares to be repurchased and/or from the
distributable profits of the Company.
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Market prices

The highest and lowest market prices at which the Shares have been traded on the
Stock Exchange in the previous twelve months before 7 April 2006 (being the Latest
Practicable Date) are as follows:

Per Share
Highest Lowest
HK$ HK$%
2005
April 11.40 10.45
May 11.60 10.35
June 10.65 9.95
July 10.55 8.70
August 9.75 8.65
September 9.30 8.50
October 9.00 8.30
November 9.40 8.25
December 10.40 8.95
2006
January 10.80 9.50
February 10.30 9.65
March 10.40 9.30
April (up to the latest practicable date) 10.25 9.90

No repurchases of Shares have been made by the Company whether on the Stock
Exchange or otherwise during the six months prior to the Latest Practicable Date.

General

The Repurchase Mandate, if exercised in full, may have a material adverse impact
on the working capital or gearing position of the Company as compared with the position
disclosed in the Company’s audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2005. The
Directors, however, do not propose to exercise the Repurchase Mandate to such an extent
as would, in the circumstances, have a material adverse impact on the working capital
requirements or the gearing levels of the Company at the time of the relevant purchases.

None of the Directors nor, to the best of the knowledge and belief of the Directors
(having made all reasonable enquiries), any of their associates, has any present intention
to sell any Shares to the Company in the event that the Repurchase Mandate is granted by
shareholders.

No connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) have notified the Company

that they have a present intention to sell Shares to the Company, or have undertaken not
to do so, in the event that the Repurchase Mandate is granted by the Shareholders.

—9_
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The Directors have undertaken to the Stock Exchange that, so far as the same may
be applicable, they will exercise the Repurchase Mandate in accordance with the Listing
Rules and the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands.

If as a result of a share repurchase, a Shareholder’s proportionate interest in the
voting rights of the Company will increase, such increase will be treated as an acquisition
for the purpose of the Takeovers Code. As a result, a Shareholder or group of Shareholders
acting in concert, could obtain or consolidate control of the Company and may become
obliged to make a mandatory offer in accordance with Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code. As
at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Lam Wai Wah, Steven (“Mr. Lam”) and his family were
beneficially interested in approximately 46.17 per cent. of the issued share capital of the
Company. In the event the Directors exercised in full the power to repurchase Shares
pursuant to the repurchase mandate, the percentage of the issued share capital of the
Company in which Mr. Lam and his family would be beneficially interested in would
increase to 51.30 per cent.. Such an increase would give rise to an obligation to make a
mandatory offer under Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code. In the event that any exercise of the
repurchase mandate would, to the knowledge of the Directors, have such a consequence
under Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code, the Directors would not exercise the mandate to
such an extent.

-10 -




APPENDIX II DETAILS OF DIRECTORS PROPOSED
TO BE RE-ELECTED AT THE AGM

The details of the Directors who will retire from their offices at the AGM and being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM, are set out below:

Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, aged 47, is an Executive Director of the Company. He
is responsible for the Group’s operations and external affairs. He joined the Group in
1987. Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any Director, senior management or
controlling shareholder of the Company, and, as at the date hereof, he is beneficially
interested in 674,000 ordinary shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

There is no service contract between the Company and Mr. Wong. His total
remuneration was in the total sum of HK$1,409,000 for the financial year ended 31
December 2005. The amount comprised basic salary of HK$1,385,000 per annum and
contribution to Mandatory Provident Fund of HK$24,000. The level of this remuneration
was reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and determined on the basis of his
responsibilities to be involved in the Company, the prevailing market conditions and the
performance of the Company’s results. His employment with the Company may be
terminated by either party at any time upon one party giving to the other party three
months’ prior notice in writing or payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Cheung Tat Sang, James, aged 50, is an Executive Director of the Company. He
is responsible for the sales of the Group’s LCD products and other semiconductor
components. Prior to joining the Group in 1989, he was sales manager for a number of
electronics companies for over 10 years. Mr. Cheung does not have any relationship with
any Director, senior management or controlling shareholder of the Company, and, as at
the date hereof, he is beneficially interested in 800,000 ordinary shares of the Company
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

There is no service contract between the Company and Mr. Cheung. His total
remuneration was in the total sum of HK$2,910,000 for the financial year ended 31
December 2005. The amount comprised basic salary of HK$1,596,000 per annum, a year
end performance bonus of HK$1,290,000 and contribution to Mandatory Provident Fund
of HK$24,000. The level of this remuneration was reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
and determined on the basis of his responsibilities to be involved in the Company, the
prevailing market conditions and the performance of the Company’s results in LCD
business. His employment with the Company may be terminated by either party at any
time upon one party giving to the other party three months’ prior notice in writing or
payment in lieu of notice.

Other than the directorships with the Company, both Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James
and Mr. Cheung Tat Sang, James did not have other directorships held in listed public
companies in the last three years.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other matter that needs to be brought to the

attention of the Shareholders or any information that is required to be disclosed pursuant
to paragraphs (h) to (v) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

-11-




APPENDIX 111 PROCEDURES BY WHICH A POLL MAY BE DEMANDED

The procedures by which the Shareholders may demand a poll at general meeting of the
Company, such as the AGM are set out in this Appendix.

According to Article 81, at any general meeting a resolution put to the vote at the
meeting shall be determined in the first instance by a show of hands of the members
present in person or by proxy or (in the case of a member being a corporation) by its duly
authorised representative and entitled to vote unless a poll is required under the Listing
Rules or (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) is duly demanded:

(1) by the Chairman; or

(2) by at least five members present in person or by proxy or (in the case of a
member being a corporation) by its duly authorised representative for the
time being entitled to vote at the meeting; or

(3) by any member or members present in person or by proxy or (in the case of a
member being a corporation) by its duly authorised representative and
representing not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all members
having the right to vote at the meeting.

Unless a poll is duly required or demanded in accordance with the foregoing
provisions, a declaration by the Chairman that a resolution has on a show of hands been
carried or carried unanimously, or by any particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that
effect in the book containing the minutes of the proceedings of the Company shall be
conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes
recorded in favour or against such resolution.

-12 -




NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

TRULY®

TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 0732)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting of the Company will
be held at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New
Territories, Hong Kong on Wednesday, 10 May 2006 at 10:30 a.m. for the following purposes:

1.

To receive and consider the Financial Statements and the Reports of the
Directors and the Auditors for the year ended 31 December 2005.

To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2005.

To elect Directors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their
remuneration.

To appoint Auditors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their
remuneration.

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following
resolutions with or without modifications, as Ordinary Resolutions:

(A) “THAT:

(1)  subject to paragraph (2) below, the exercise by the Directors of the
Company during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) of
all the powers of the Company to purchase shares in the capital of
the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally
approved;

(2)  the aggregate nominal amount of shares which may be purchased
by the Directors of the Company pursuant to the approval in
paragraph (1) above shall not exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue as at
the date of the passing of this Resolution and the said approval
shall be limited accordingly; and

(3) for the purpose of this Resolution “Relevant Period” means the
period from the passing of this Resolution until whichever is the

earlier of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company;
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(if)  the expiration of the period within which the next annual
general meeting of the Company is required by law to be
held; and

(iii) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this
Resolution by ordinary resolution of the Company in general
meeting.”

“THAT:

(M

)

subject to paragraph (3) below, the exercise by the Directors of the
Company during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) of
all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with
additional shares in the capital of the Company, and to make or
grant offers, agreements and options which might require the
exercise of such power, be and is hereby generally and
unconditionally approved;

the approval in paragraph (1) above shall authorise the Directors
of the Company during the Relevant Period to make or grant offers,
agreements and options which might require the exercise of such
power after the end of the Relevant Period;

the aggregate nominal amount of shares allotted or agreed
conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted (whether pursuant
to an option or otherwise) by the Directors of the Company
pursuant to the approval in paragraph (1) above, otherwise than
pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter defined), (ii) the
exercise of any option granted under any option scheme or similar
arrangement for the time being adopted for the grant or issue to
employees of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries of
options to subscribe for, or rights to acquire, shares of the
Company, or (iii) the exercise of rights of subscription or
conversion under the terms of any warrants issued by the
Company, or any other securities which are convertible into shares
of the Company, and from time to time outstanding, shall not
exceed 20 percent of the aggregate nominal amount of the share
capital of the Company in issue as at the date of the passing of
this Resolution, and the said approval shall be limited accordingly;
and

- 14 -




NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

(©)

(4) for the purpose of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this
Resolution until whichever is the earlier of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual
general meeting of the Company is required by law to be
held; and

(iif) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this
Resolution by ordinary resolution of the Company in general
meeting; and

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares or other securities open
for a period fixed by the Directors of the Company to holders of
shares on the Register of Members of the Company on a fixed
record date in proportion to their then holdings of such shares
(subject to such exclusion or other arrangements as the Directors
of the Company may deem necessary or expedient in relation to
fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions or
obligations under the laws or the requirements of any recognised
regulatory body or any stock exchange in any territory outside
Hong Kong).”

“THAT the general mandate granted to the Directors of the Company to
exercise the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with
additional shares in the capital of the Company be and is hereby extended
by adding to the aggregate nominal amount of shares which may be
allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted pursuant
to such general mandate the aggregate nominal amount of shares in the
capital of the Company purchased by the Company pursuant to the
exercise by the Directors of the Company of the powers of the Company
to purchase such shares (provided that such amount shall not exceed 10
percent of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the
Company in issue as at the date of the passing of this Resolution).”
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6. As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution
with or without modification, as an Ordinary Resolution:

“THAT pursuant to Clause 5(B) of the share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 22 December 2003, approval be and is
hereby generally and unconditionally granted for refreshing the 10% limit
under the Share Option Scheme provided that (i) the total number of shares in
the capital of the Company which may be issued upon the exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company under the limit as refreshed hereby shall not
exceed 10% of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the
Company in issue on the date of the passing of this resolution and (ii) options
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company (including options outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes of the Company) shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the 10% limit as refreshed hereby.”

7. As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution
with or without modification, as a Special Resolution:

“THAT the Articles be amended as follows:
(A) In Article 2:-

(1) by deleting the longer of the two definitions for the term
“associate”; and

(2) by deleting the existing definition for “holding company” and
substituting therefor the following:—

““holding company” and “subsidiary” shall have the respective
meanings attributed to these terms in the Listing Rules;”.

(B) By deleting Article 2A in its entirety.
(C) In the second paragraph of Article 81, by deleting the words “duly
required or demanded” and inserting in their place “required or duly

demanded”.

(D) In Article 82, by deleting the words “duly required in demanded” and
inserting in their place “required or duly demanded”.

(E) In Article 87, by inserting the word “resolution” immediately following
the words “any particular”.
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(F) By renumbering the paragraph stated as Article 96(A) as Article 96A.

(G) By deleting the existing Article 100 in its entirety and replacing therewith
the following new Article 100:

“100. The Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed by the
Board shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy)
or until the next annual general meeting of the Company (in the
case of an addition to the Board), and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting. Any Director who so retires at the annual
general meeting of the Company shall not be taken into account
in determining the number of Directors who are to retire by
rotation at such meeting.”

(H) By deleting from Article 111 the second sentence: “A Director appointed
as the Managing Director, Joint Managing Director, Deputy Managing
Director or other Executive Director shall not while holding such office
be subject to retirement by rotation or taken into account in determining
the rotation of retirement of Directors”.

(I) By replacing the word “exceeding” in the first sentence of Article 120 by
“less than”.

(J) By inserting at the end of the first sentence Article 120 immediately
after the word “office” the words “such that each Director to retire shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years”.

(K) By inserting in Article 122 immediately after the words “year to year”
the words “, subject to the provisions in Article 120 that each Director
shall retire by rotation at least once every three years,”.

(L) By deleting the second sentence of Article 126 in its entirety.

(M) By inserting at the end of the sentence in Article 109 the following
words “Provided that Non-Executive Directors shall be appointed for a

e

specific term, subject to re-election.

By Order of the Board
Ng Sui Wa, Thomas
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 12 April 2006
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2)

(3)

4)

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from 24 April 2006 to 28 April 2006, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfers of shares will be registered.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the above Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to
attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

In order to be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if
any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy of that power of attorney or other authority,
must be lodged at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting
Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the
time fixed for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Concerning the ordinary resolutions set out in paragraphs 5(B) and 5(C) of the above notice, the approval
is being sought from members as a general mandate in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Directors of the Company have no
immediate plans to issue any new shares of the Company.

Concerning the resolutions set out in paragraphs 5(A), 5(B), 5(C), 6 and 7 of the above notice, a circular
containing particulars of the proposed resolutions, a notice to the annual general meeting and an
explanatory statement containing information regarding resolutions as set out in paragraphs 5(A), 5(B),
5(C), 6 and 7 will be sent to Shareholders with the Company’s 2005 Annual Report.
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THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action to be taken, you
should consult your stockbroker or other registered dealer in securities, bank manager,
solicitor, professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in Truly International Holdings Limited,
you should at once hand this circular to the purchaser(s) or transferee(s) or to the bank,
stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission
to the purchaser(s) or transferee(s).

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this
circular, makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this circular.

TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 0732)

MAJOR TRANSACTION

PROPOSED PURCHASE OF EQUIPMENT FOR NEW TFT-LCD
PRODUCTION LINE AND PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION OF
ANCILLARY FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE

A letter from the Board is set out on pages 3 to 7 of this circular.

The notice of an extraordinary general meeting of Truly International Holdings Limited to
be held at 10:30 a.m. on Friday, 19 May 2006 at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre,
1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong is set out in this circular.
Whether or not you are able to attend the meeting in person, you are requested to complete
and return the enclosed form of proxy for the extraordinary general meeting in accordance
with the instructions printed thereon as soon as possible and in any event not less than 48
hours before the time appointed for holding of the meeting or any adjourned meeting (as
the case may be). Completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude you from
attending and voting in person at the extraordinary general meeting or any adjourned
meeting.

3 May 2006
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DEFINITIONS

In this circular, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have

the following meanings:

“Basic Sale and Purchase
Agreement”

“Board”

“Company”

“Contract Sum”

“Director(s)”

IIEGMH

IIGDPII
“Group”
IIHK$!I

“Hong Kong”

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

”]PY”

“Latest Practicable Date”

the turn-key agreement to be entered into, subject to and
following Shareholders’ approval of the Transactions,
between Truly Semiconductors as the owner and Nakan
as the main contractor for the design and construction of
the New Production Line on a turn-key basis

the board of Directors

Truly International Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability,
the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange

the aggregate consideration for the design, equipment
purchase, fitting out, installation and trial production for
the New Production Line expected to be payable by Truly
Semiconductors pursuant to the Basic Sale and Purchase
Agreement

the director(s) of the Company

the extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be
convened for the purpose of approving the Transactions

gross domestic product
the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time
Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China

(an) independent third party(ies) not connected with the
Directors, chief executive and substantial shareholders of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) and who is
not itself (themselves) a connected person(s) of the
Company

Japanese Yen, the lawful currency of Japan
28 April 2006, being the latest practicable date prior to

the printing of this circular for ascertaining certain
information included in this circular




DEFINITIONS

”LCD ”

“Letter of Intent”

“Listing Rules”

“Nakan”

“New Production Line”

”SFO”

“Share(s)”
“Shareholders”
“Stock Exchange”
“TEFT”
“TFT-LCD”

“Transactions”

7

“Truly Semiconductors’

IIUS$H

Il%l/

Liquid Crystal Displays

the letter of intent entered into between Truly
Semiconductors and Nakan on 11 April 2006 under which
the parties have conditionally agreed to enter into the

Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Nakan Corporation, a company incorporated in Japan

the core TFT-LCD production line and its ancillary
facilities and infrastructure proposed to be constructed
and completed pursuant to the Basic Sale and Purchase

Agreement

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)

share(s) in the issued share capital of the Company
holders of Shares

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Thin Film Transistor

Thin Film Transistor-Liquid Crystal Displays

the entering of the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement,
the transactions contemplated thereunder and the
purchase and installation of ancillary facilities and

infrastructure

Truly Semiconductors Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the United
States of America

per cent.

In this circular, for reference only and unless otherwise specified, the translation of US$
into HKS$ is based on the exchange rate of US$1 to HK$7.80 and the translation of [PY into HK$
is based on the exchange rate of [PY100 to HK$6.50.
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TRULY"

TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Executive Directors:

Lam Wai Wah, Steven (Chairman)
Wong Pong Chun, James
Cheung Tat Sang, James

Li Jian Hua

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Chung Kam Kwong
Ip Cho Ting, Spencer
Heung Kai Sing

(Stock Code: 0732)

Registered office:
P.O. Box 309
Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands
British West Indies

Principal place of business:

2/F., Chung Shun Knitting Centre
1-3 Wing Yip Street

Kwai Chung

'N.T.
Hong Kong

3 May 2006
To the Shareholders
Dear Sirs,
MAJOR TRANSACTION

PROPOSED PURCHASE OF EQUIPMENT FOR NEW TFT-LCD
PRODUCTION LINE AND PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION OF
ANCILLARY FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE

INTRODUCTION

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 11 April 2006 in which
the Board announced that on 11 April 2006, Truly Semiconductors, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Letter of Intent with Nakan. Under the Letter
of Intent, the parties agreed, subject to obtaining the approval of the shareholders of the
Company to enter into a Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement whereby Nakan (an
Independent Third Party) shall design and construct the New Production Line on a turn-
key basis for Truly Semiconductors. In conjunction with the commissioning of the New
Production Line, Truly Semiconductors also intends to purchase and install ancillary
facilities and infrastructure.

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with (i) further details of the
Transactions; (ii) such information concerning the Company as required under the Listing
Rules; and (iii) a notice of the EGM convened for the purpose of seeking Shareholders’
approval of the Transactions.
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LETTER OF INTENT
Date : 11 April 2006
Parties : (1)  Truly Semiconductors, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

(2) Nakan, a Japanese company principally engaged in the
development and production of plant, machinery and equipment
for LCD and related products.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief after making all
reasonable enquiries, Nakan and its ultimate beneficial owners are Independent Third
Parties.

Under the Letter of Intent (which is intended to be legally binding but is subject to
the actual terms of the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement to be negotiated and finalized
between the parties), the parties have agreed, subject to obtaining the approval of the
Shareholders, to enter into the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement which is expected to
provide for the following:—

Scope of Nakan’s work

The work to be undertaken by Nakan under the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement
is expected to include the design, equipment purchase, fitting out, installation and trial
production for the New Production Line on a turn-key basis.

Nakan will be required to complete the New Production Line within nine months
from the date of the notice of commencement given by Truly Semiconductors. It is intended
that Truly Semiconductors will issue the notice of commencement as soon as practicable
following the signing of the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement. The New Production
Line is expected to be completed in February 2007.

According to the work plan and timetable of the parties, it is expected that subject
to obtaining the approval of the Shareholders in the EGM which is anticipated to be held
in May 2006, the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement will be entered into no later than
June 2006.

Should there be any material variation of the terms of the Basic Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Directors will as soon as practicable inform the Shareholders by way of an
announcement.

Contract Sum
It is intended that the total consideration payable by Truly Semiconductors to Nakan

under the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement shall be the sum of JPY15,178,000,000
(approximately HK$986.6 million) and US$19,500,000 (approximately HK$152.1 million).
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The Directors confirm that the Contract Sum was determined after arm’s length
negotiations between Nakan and Truly Semiconductors by reference to numerous individual
items based on market price the pricing for and the sourcing of which had been negotiated
in detail between Truly Semiconductors and Nakan over a period of some six months.

PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION OF ANCILLARY FACILITIES AND
INFRASTRUCTURE

In conjunction with the commissioning of the New Production Line pursuant to the
Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement, Truly Semiconductors intends to purchase and install
certain ancillary facilities and infrastructure, which will include:-

(1) infrastructure;

(2) clean room system;

(3) electricity facilities;

(4) water purification facilities;

(5) gas facilities;

(6) environmental protection facilities; and
(7)  technical support and miscellaneous.

Truly Semiconductors has commenced the process of identifying potential suppliers
and contractors (which will be Independent Third Parties) and commenced negotiations
regarding each individual purchase and service contract. The total projected costs for the
purchase and installation of these ancillary facilities and infrastructure are estimated to be
in the region of approximately HK$300 million, and are expected not to exceed HK$400
million.

REASONS FOR AND BENEFITS OF THE TRANSACTIONS

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of liquid crystal
display products and electronic consumer products including MP3 players, calculators
and electronic components.

A significant portion of the Group’s output are for electronic consumer products an
integral component of which is the TFT-LCD screen, which the Group has had to source
from third parties. The New Production Line will enable the Group to commence its own
production of TFT-LCD panels which will be assembled with other components, thereby
reducing the overall production costs for these products. The Directors believe that the
vertical integration represented by completion and operation of the New Production Line
will enhance the production capacity and efficiency of the Group, and thereby assist the
Group’s competitive position in the market.

-5-
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The aggregate costs to Truly Semiconductors for the New Production Line, including
the Contract Sum and the cost for the purchase and installation of ancillary facilities and
infrastructure, are projected to be approximately HK$1,438.7 million and are estimated
not to exceed HK$1,538.7 million. The Group intends to finance the Transactions as to
approximately 80% by existing internal resources and as to the balance by unsecured bank
loans which the Group expects to arrange in due course.

The Directors are of the view that the Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
purchase and installation of ancillary facilities and infrastructure will be on normal
commercial terms and the terms of the Transactions are fair and reasonable and the
Transactions are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Following completion of the Transactions, the Group’s fixed assets will increase
whilst net current assets will be reduced in proportion to the amount of the Contract Sum
and the cost for the purchase and installation of ancillary facilities and infrastructure
funded from internal resources. As it is expected that the New Production Line will not be
completed until February 2007, there will be no immediate effect on the Group’s earnings.
The Group’s long term liabilities will increase as a result of the unsecured bank loans to
be obtained by the Group. Although its gearing ratio will be increased accordingly the
Group is expected to remain net cash positive based on current financial projections.

GENERAL

As the relevant percentage ratios in respect of the Transactions treated on an aggregate
basis under the assets test and the consideration test for the purposes of Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules are more than 25% but less than 100%, the Transactions will constitute a
major transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules and will be subject to
Shareholders’ approval at the EGM. Since no Shareholder has a material interest in the
Transactions, no Shareholder or any of its associates is required to abstain from voting on
the resolution to be proposed at the EGM for the approval of the Transactions.

EGM

A notice convening the EGM to be held at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre,
1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong on Friday, 19 May 2006 at
10:30 a.m. is set out on pages 53 to 54 of this circular for the purpose of considering and, if
thought fit, passing the ordinary resolution to be proposed at the EGM.

Pursuant to Article 81, at any general meeting a resolution put to the vote at the
meeting shall be determined in the first instance by a show of hands of the members
present in person or by proxy or (in the case of a member being a corporation) by its duly
authorised representative and entitled to vote unless a poll is required under the Listing
Rules or (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands) is duly demanded:

(1) by the Chairman; or
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(2) Dby at least five members present in person or by proxy or (in the case of a
member being a corporation) by its duly authorised representative for the
time being entitled to vote at the meeting; or

(3) by any member or members present in person or by proxy or (in the case of a
member being a corporation) by its duly authorised representative and
representing not less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all members
having the right to vote at the meeting.

Unless a poll is duly required or demanded in accordance with the foregoing
provisions, a declaration by the Chairman that a resolution has on a show of hands been
carried or carried unanimously, or by any particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that
effect in the book containing the minutes of the proceedings of the Company shall be
conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes
recorded in favour or against such resolution.

A form of proxy for used by the Shareholders at the EGM is enclosed. Whether or
not you are able to attend the meeting, you are requested to complete the form of proxy
and return it to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 2nd Floor,
Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong
Kong as soon as possible-and in any event not less than 48 hours before the time appointed
for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof. Completion and return of the form of
proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the EGM or any
adjourned meeting should you so wish.

RECOMMENDATION

The Board considers that the terms of the Transactions are fair and reasonable and
the Transactions are in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Accordingly, the Directors recommend you to vote in favour of the resolution to be
proposed at the EGM for the approval of the Transactions.

OTHER INFORMATION

Your attention is drawn to the additional information set out in the appendices to
this circular.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of the Board of
Truly International Holdings Limited
Lam Wai Wah, Steven
Chairman




APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE GROUP

L SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE GROUP

The following is a summary of the audited financial results of the Group for the
three years ended 31 December 2005, as extracted from the audited financial statements of
the Group for the relevant periods.

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

Year ended 31 December

2005 2004 2003

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

Turnover 4,574,079 3,406,992 1,399,898

Profit/ (loss) before tax 841,505 607,928 234,219

Tax (139,457) (81,427) (41,570)
Net profit from ordinary

activities attributable
to shareholders 702,048 526,501 192,649

Consolidated Assets, Liabilities and Minority interests

As at 31 December

2005 2004 2003

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

Total assets 3,428,180 2,408,947 1,731,079
Total liabilities (1,490,135) (1,001,008) (735,847)

Net assets 1,938,045 1,407,939 995,232
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II. AUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE GROUP

The following financial information is an extract from the audited financial statements

of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2005 together with notes thereto.

Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Impairment loss on available-for-sale
investments

Impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment

Finance costs

Share of results of an associate

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year
Dividends

Earnings per share
Basic

Diluted

Notes

10

13

14

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
(Restated)

4,574,079 3,406,992
(3,487,719) (2,615,969)
1,086,360 791,023
27,438 16,061
(73,592) (54,839)
(164,459) (130,229)
(7,800) -
(6,377) -
(19,683) (14,201)
(382) 113
841,505 607,928
(139,457) (81,427)
702,048 526,501
219,992 180,651
HK$1.54 HK$1.18
HK$1.50 HKS$1.13
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2005

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Interest in an associate
Available-for-sale investments
Investment securities
Deferred tax assets
Deposits paid for acquisition of

property, plant and equipment

Current assets
Inventories
Prepaid lease payments
Trade and other receivables
Short-term loans receivable
Amount due from an associate
Tax recoverable
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Tax liabilities
Obligations under finance leases
Bank borrowings

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Obligations under finance leases
Bank borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

- 10 -

Notes

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
28

22
16
23
24

25

26
27

26
27
28

29

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
(Restated)

1,091,452 803,652
98,267 88,532
19,402 28,796
413 413
1,086 1,285

- 7,800

415 -
60,592 -
1,271,627 930,478
549,994 445,500
2,456 1,713
753,253 550,832
- 1,500

447 1,071
1,967 1,465
848,436 476,388
2,156,553 1,478,469
921,761 508,463
98,728 49,836

- 5,326
181,937 194,671
1,202,426 758,296
954,127 720,173
2,225,754 1,650,651
- 5,313
249,559 218,029
38,150 19,370
287,709 242,712
1,938,045 1,407,939
45,816 45,168
1,892,229 1,362,771
1,938,045 1,407,939
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Capital
red-

Share  Share  Special emption Negative Exchange  Other Retained

capital premium  reserve  reserve goodwill reserve reserves  profits  Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK$000
At 1January 2004 445 250,288 990 82 9% 2,004 - 696447 995,23
Exchange differences arising
on translation of foreign
operations recognised
directly in equity - - - - - n - - 312
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 526,501 526,501
Total recognised income
for the year - - - - - 312 - 526501 526,813
Shares issted at premium 3 155M - - - - - - 16315
Dividends paid - - - - - - - (130421) (130.421)
At 31 December 2004 as
originally stated 45,168 265,860 990 §2 9% 2316 - 1092527 1407939
Effects of changes in
accounting policies
(See Note 2) - - - - (5%) - - 9% -
At 1 January 2005 as restated 45168 265,860 990 82 - 2316 - 1093523 1407939
Exchange differences arising
on translation of foreign
operations recognised
directly in equity - - - - - B - - B9
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 702,048 702,048
Total recognised income
for the year - - - - - 23793 - 702,048 725,841
Shares issued at premium 048 13571 - - - - - - 14219
Transfer - - - - - - 15543 (125,549) -
Dividends paid - - - - - - - (209954) (209,954)
At 31 December 2005 45816 279431 990 82 - 26109 125543 1460074 1,938,045

-11-
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The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares
of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisitions.

Other reserves comprises statutory surplus reserve and enterprise expansion reserve
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China other than Hong Kong
(the “PRC"). According to the Articles of Association of the PRC subsidiaries, a percentage
of net profit as reported in the PRC statutory accounts should be transferred to statutory
surplus reserve and enterprise expansion reserve determined at the discretion of the board
of directors of these companies. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to set off
accumulated loss whilst the enterprise expansion reserve can be used for expansion of
production facilities or increase in registered capital.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2005

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Amortisation of development expenditure
Amortisation of trademarks
Amortisation of goodwill
Write-off of development expenditure
Depreciation and amortisation of property,
plant and equipment
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments

Loss on disposal/write-off of property, plant

and equipment
Release of government grant

Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments

Impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment

Finance costs

Share of results of an associate

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Increase in inventories

Increase in trade and other receivables

Decrease in amount due from an associate

Increase in trade and other payables

Effect of realignment of foreign exchange rate

Cash generated from operations
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

Overseas tax refunded (paid)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

-13 -~

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
(Restated)

841,505 607,928
(14,536) (1,477)
9,455 9,455

344 373

- 118

- 781

148,904 110,708
2,456 1,713
4,197 2,362
(1,856) (1,162)
7,800 -
6,377 -
19,683 14,201
382 (113)
1,024,711 744,887
(101,065) (154,405)
(196,862) (144,452)
- 1,309

413,051 209,184
3,679 (31)
1,143,514 656,492
(35,619) (17,370)
(37,986) (45,495)
135 (319)
1,070,044 593,308
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2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$000
(Restated)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (434,767) (187,195)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment (60,592) -
Addition of prepaid lease payments (12,923) -
Acquisition of intangible assets (405) (253)
Interest received 14,536 1,477
Decrease in short-term loans receivable 1,500 2,437
Amount repaid from an associate 624 -
Purchase of investment securities - (7,800)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant
and equipment - 100
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (492,027) (191,234)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of bank borrowings (236,226) (583,420)
Dividends paid (209,954) (130,421)
Interest paid on bank borrowings (19,466) (13,812)
Payment of obligations under finance leases (10,639) (10,432)
Interest paid on obligations under finance leases (217) (389)
New bank borrowings raised 255,398 631,226
Proceeds from issue of shares 14,219 16,315
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (206,885) (90,933)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 371,132 311,141
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING
OF THE YEAR 476,012 164,556
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES 1,292 315
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF THE YEAR 848,436 476,012
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash 848,436 476,388
Bank overdrafts - (376)
848,436 476,012
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2005

1. GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company. The Company is a public limited company with its shares listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “General
Information” to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the business of manufacture and sale of liquid crystal display ("LCD”) products and electronic
consumer products including MP3 players, calculators and electronic components.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, a number of new Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS(s)”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKAS(s)”) and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as “new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are effective for accounting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2005. The application of the new HKFRSs has resulted in a change in the presentation
of the consolidated income statement, consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of changes
in equity. In particular, the presentation of share of tax of an associate has been changed. The changes
in presentation have been applied retrospectively. The adoption of the new HKFRSs has resulted in
changes to the Group’s accounting policies in the following areas that have an effect on how the results
for the current and/or prior accounting years are prepared and presented:

Business combinations

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” from 1
January 2005. The principal effects of the application of HKFRS 3 to the Group are summarised
below:

Goodwill

In previous years, goodwill arising on acquisitions was capitalised and amortised over
its estimated useful life. The Group has applied the relevant transitional provisions in HKFRS 3
so that on 1 January 2005 the Group eliminated the carrying amount of the related accumulated
amortisation of HK$177,000 with a corresponding decrease in the cost of goodwill (see note 18).
The Group has discontinued amortising such goodwill from 1 January 2005 onwards and such
goodwill will be tested for impairment at least annually. Goodwill arising on acquisitions after 1
January 2005 is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses (if any) after initial
recognition. As a result of this change in accounting policy, no amortisation of goodwill has
been charged in the current year. Comparative figures for 2004 have not been restated.

Excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost (previously known as “negative goodwill”)

In accordance with HKFRS 3, any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition
(“discount on acquisition”) is recognized immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
acquisition takes place. In previous years, negative goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1
January 2001 was held in reserves. In accordance with the relevant transitional provisions in
HKFRS 3, the Group derecognised all negative goodwill on 1 January 2005 (of which negative
goodwill of HK$996,000 was previously recorded in reserves). A corresponding credit to the
Group's retained earnings of HK$996,000 has been made.
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Financial instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure
and Presentation” and HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. HKAS
32 requires retrospective application. HKAS 39, which is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2005, generally does not permit the recognition, derecognition or
measurement of financial assets and liabilities on a retrospective basis. The application of HKAS
32 has had no material impact on how financial instruments of the Group are presented for
current and prior accounting periods. The principal effects resulting from the implementation of
HKAS 39 are summarised below.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group has applied the relevant transitional provisions in HKAS 39 with respect to
the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities that are within the
scope of HKAS 39.

By 31 December 2004, the Group classified and measured its equity securities in accordance
with the benchmark treatment of Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 24 (“SSAP 24")
issued by the HKICPA. Under SSAP 24, investments in equity securities, which are securities
held for an identified long term strategic purpose, are classified as “investment securities”.
“Investment securities” are carried at cost less any impairment losses. From 1 January 2005
onwards, the Group has classified and measured its equity securities in accordance with HKAS
39. Under HKAS 39, financial assets are classified as “financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss”, “available-for-sale financial assets”, “loans and receivables”, or “held-to-maturity
financial assets”. “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” and “available-for-sale
financial assets” are carried at fair value, with changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss
and equity respectively. Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have quoted market
prices in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at
cost less impairment after initial recognition. “Loans and receivables” and “held-to-maturity
financial assets” are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method after initial
recognition.

On 1 January 2005, the Group classified and measured its equity securities as available-
for-sale investment in accordance with the transitional provisions of HKAS 39 but there was no
effect on the retained profits of the Group at 1 January 2005.

Derecognition

HKAS 39 provides more rigorous criteria for the derecognition of financial assets than
the criteria applied in previous periods, Under HKAS 39, a financial asset is derecognised, when
and only when, either the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire, or the asset is
transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39. The decision
as to whether a transfer qualifies for derecognition is made by applying a combination of risks
and rewards and control tests. The Group has applied the relevant transitional provisions and
applied the revised accounting policy prospectively to transfers of financial assets from 1 January
2005 onwards. As a result, the Group’s bill receivables discounted with full recourse which were
derecognized prior to 1 January 2005 have not been restated. As at 31 December 2005, the
Group’s bills receivables discounted with full recourse have not been derecognized and are
included in trade and other receivables. Instead, the related borrowings of HK$5,774,000 have
been recognised on the balance sheet date. The relevant finance costs incurred in order to obtain
such borrowings are included in the carrying amount of the borrowings on initial recognition
and amortised over the terms of the borrowings using the effective interest method. This change
in accounting policy has had no material effect on results for the current year.
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Owner-occupied leasehold interest in land

In previous years, owner-occupied leasehold land and buildings were included in property,
plant and equipment and measured using the cost model. In the current year, the Group has
applied HKAS 17 “Leases”. Under HKAS 17, the land and buildings elements of a lease of land
and buildings are considered separately for the purposes of lease classification, unless the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, in which case
the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease. To the extent that the allocation of the
lease payments between the land and buildings elements can be made reliably, the leasehold
interests in land are reclassified to prepaid lease payments under operating leases, which are
carried at cost and amortised over the lease term on a straightline basis. This change in accounting
policy has been applied retrospectively.

Share-based payments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” which requires
an expense to be recognised where the Group buys goods or obtains services in exchange for
shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled transactions”), or in exchange for other assets
equivalent in value to a given number of shares or rights over shares (“cash-settled transactions”).
The principal impact of HKFRS 2 on the Group is in relation to the expensing of the fair value of
share options granted to directors and employees of the Company, determined at the date of
grant of the share options, over the vesting period. Prior to the application of HKFRS 2, the
Group did not recognise the financial effect of these share options until they were exercised. The
Group has applied HKFRS 2 to share options granted on or after 1 January 2005. In relation to
share options granted before 1 January 2005, the Group chooses not to apply HKFRS 2 with
respect to share options granted on or before 7 November 2002 and vested before 1 January 2005.
This change in accounting policy has had no material effect on results for the current or prior
years.

As a result of the changes in the accounting policies described above, the profit for the
year is increased by HK$118,000 (2004: nil), which is attributable to the non-amortisation of
goodwill which was previously included in administrative expenses.

The cumulative effects of the application of the new HKFRSs on 31 December 2004 and 1
January 2005 are summarised below:

As at 31 As at 31 Asatl
December December January
2004 Adjustments 2004 Adjustments 2005
(Originally
stated) {Restated) (Restated)

HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Balance sheet items

Impact of HKAS 17:
Property, plant and

equipment 893,897 (90,245) 803,652 - 803,652
Prepaid lease payments - 90,245 90,245 - 90,245
Impact of HKAS 39:
Investment securities 7,800 - 7,800 (7,800) -
Available-for-sale

investments - - - 7,800 7,800
Total effects on assets 901,697 - 901,697 - 901,697
Retained earnings 1,092,527 - 1,092,527 996 1,093,523
Negative goodwill reserve 996 - 996 (996) -
Total effects on equity 1,093,523 - 1,093,523 - 1,093,523
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The Group has not early applied the following new standards and interpretations that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has commenced considering the potential
impact of these new standards and interpretations but is not yet in a position to determine
whether these new standards and interpretations would have a significant impact on how its
results of operations and financial position are prepared and presented.

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Capital disclosures!

HKAS 19 (Amendment) Actuarial gains and losses, group plans and disclosures?

HKAS 21 (Amendment) Net investment in a foreign operation?

HKAS 39 {Amendment) Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup
transactions?®

HKAS 39 (Amendment) The fair value option?

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 4 Financial guarantee contracts?

(Amendments)

HKFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources?

HKEFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures!

HK(IFRIC) - INT 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease?

HK(IFRIC) - INT 5 Rights to interests arising from decommissioning, restoration
and environmental rehabilitation funds?

HK(IFRIC) ~ INT 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific market -
waste electrical and electronic equipment?

HK(IERIC) - INT 7 Applying the restatement approach under HKAS 29

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007

z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005
¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2006

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date
of disposal, as appropriate.

All inter-company transactions and balances within the Group have been eliminated on
consolidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary for which the agreement date is before
1 January 2005 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the relevant subsidiary at the date of
acquisition. For capitalised goodwill arising on acquisitions, the Group has discontinued
amortization from 1 January 2005 onwards, and such goodwill is tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the cash generating unit to which the goodwill relates
may be impaired.
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Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is presented separately in
the balance sheet.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in the income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised
is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Interests in associates

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in
associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition
changes in the Group’s share of the profit or loss and of changes in equity of the associates, less
any identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of that associate,

Revenue recognition
Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable.

Rental income from properties under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the relevant lease term.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than properties under development, are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation, and impairment losses,

Buildings in the course of development for production are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property
within property, plant and equipment, commences when the assets are ready for their intended
uses.

The cost of buildings is depreciated over forty years or the terms of the respective leases,
whichever is the shorter, using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of other property, plant and equipment,

other than properties under development, over their estimated useful lives, using the reducing
balance method.
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Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the
same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income statement in the year in
which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development expenditure is
recognised only if it is anticipated that the development costs incurred on a clearly-defined
project will be recovered through future commercial activity. The resultant asset is amortised on
a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Trademarks

Costs incurred in the registration of trademarks are capitalised and amortised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated

using the first-in, firstout method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into either loans and receivables or available-
for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. The accounting policies adopted in respect of each category of
financial assets are set out below.

Loans and trade receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, short-term loans
receivable, amount due from an associate and bank balances) are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses. An impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. Impairment losses
are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to a
restriction that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are either designated or not
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, for available-
forsale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition. An impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.
The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount
of the asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses will not reverse in
subsequent periods.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the

group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect of financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities other than financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
including bank borrowings, obligations under finance leases and trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them
with the related costs. Grants related to depreciable assets are released to income over the useful
lives of the assets. Grants related to expense items are recognised in the same period as those
expenses are charged in the consolidated income statement and are reported separately as other
income.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value
at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general
policy on borrowing costs.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it further excludes income statement
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be.utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when
the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
its functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each
balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation
of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and
liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date,
and their income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
as a separate component of equity (the exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense
as they fall due.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and equipment with respect to
depreciation, management estimates the useful lives of various categories of property, plant and
equipment according to the industrial experiences gained over the development history of the
Group and also by reference to the relevant industrial norm.

Impairment of intangible assets

As a long-term strategic investment, the progress of Organic Light Emitting Display
(“OLED”) business development has been closely monitored since its first introduction. With the
successful subscription of a valid licence to manufacture and market and the deployment of an
up-to-standard production plant, this business division has already been proven a viable project
both in supplying to in-house demand as a synergy for other LCD products and for external
sales. Although its profitability has yet to be improved, according to the projected financial
information, there will be no question to the recoverability of the related investment cost in the
medium term.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity investments, bank borrowings, obligations
under finance lease, loans receivable, amount due from an associate, trade and other receivables, bank
balances and cash, and trade and other payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The Group have foreign currency sales and purchases and certain borrowings of the
Group are denominated in foreign currencies, and the majority of the bank balances are
denominated in foreign currencies (comprising United States dollars, Japanese Yen and Renminbi)
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates to floating-rate bank borrowings (note 27).
The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to fixed-rate short-term bank fixed
deposits. The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arises. The fair value of the Group’s bank balances is approximate to
the carrying amount as the fixed deposits are short-term.

(1it) Market risk

The Group’s businesses are heavily relying on the PRC market (75%) and the LCD products
(96%) by which situation the Group is exposed to market risk. However, it has been the Group'’s
policy since its incorporation to diversify its businesses in different geographical and product
segments so as to minimise these risks. The management keeps close watch on the matter and
does all necessary procedures to contain this market risk.

Credit risk

The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other
receivables, short-term loans receivable, amount due from an associate and available-for-sale
investments. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties
failure to perform their obligations at 31 December 2005 in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount shown in the consolidated balance sheet.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables. The
amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at each balance sheet date to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the PRC.

The Group has no other significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers.
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6. TURNOVER

Turnover represents the net proceeds received and receivable on the sale of goods during the
year, and is analysed as follows:

Sales of LCD products
Sales of electronic consumer products

7. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

Business segments

2005 2004
HK$°000 HK$'000
4,389,588 3,138,393
184,491 268,599
4,574,079 3,406,992

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into two operating divisions
- LCD products and electronic consumer products. These divisions are the basis on which the
Group reports its primary segment information.

Principal activities are as follows:

LCD products ~ manufacture and distribution of LCD products

Electronic consumer - manufacture and distribution of electronic consumer products

products

Segment information about these businesses is presented below:

2005 Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Consolidated
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
REVENUE
External sales 4,389,588 184,491 4,574,079
RESULT
Segment result 838,578 23,725 862,303
Interest income 14,536
Unallocated corporate expenses (1,092)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale
investments (7,800) - (7,800)
Impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment - (6,377) (6,377)
Finance costs (19,683)
Share of results of an associate - (382) (382)
Profit before taxation 841,505
Income tax expense (139,457)
Profit for the year 702,048
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BALANCE SHEET

Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Consolidated
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
ASSETS
Segment assets 2,308,919 267,357 2,576,276
Interest in an associate - 1,086 1,086
Deferred tax assets 415
Tax recoverable 1,967
Unallocated corporate assets 848,436
Consolidated total assets 3,428,180
———
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities 883,006 38,527 921,533
Tax liabilities 98,728
Deferred tax liabilities 38,150
Unallocated corporate liabilities 431,724
Consolidated total liabilities 1,490,135
OTHER INFORMATION
Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Consolidated
HK'000 HK’000 HK'000
Capital additions 435,444 60,320 495,764
Depreciation and amortisation 134,775 26,384 161,159
Loss on disposal/write-off of property,
plant and equipment - 4,197 4,197
2004
Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Consolidated
HK’000 HK’000 HK'000
(Restated)
REVENUE
External sales 3,138,393 268,599 3,406,992
RESULT
Segment result - ‘ 618,989 2,625 621,614
Interest income 1,477
Unallocated corporate expenses (1,075)
Finance costs (14,201)
Share of results of an associate - 113 113
Profit before taxation 607,928
Income tax expense (81,427)
Profit for the year 526,501
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BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS

Segment assets

Interest in an associate
Investment securities

Tax recoverable

Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities

Tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities
Unallocated corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

OTHER INFORMATION

Capital additions

Depreciation and amortization

Loss on disposal/ write-off of property,
plant and equipment

Write-off of development expenditure

Geographical segments

LCD
products
HK'000

1,722,240

7,800

465,083

LCD
products
HK'000

144,930
105,635

1,059

Electronic
consumer
products
HK’000

197,876
1,285

43,184

Electronic
consumer
products
HK'000

42,518
16,732

1,303
781

Consolidated
HK'000

1,920,116
1,285
7,800
1,465

478,281

2,408,947

508,267
49,836
19,370

423,535

1,001,008

Consolidated
HK'000

187,448
122,367

2,362
781

The Group's manufacturing operation is located in the PRC. The sales and marketing

functions are located at all reportable segments as listed below.

The turnover of the Group, analysed by location of customers, is as follows:

PRC

South Korea
Japan

Hong Kong
Europe
Others
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Turnover by
geographical segments

2005 2004
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
3,433,919 2,265,565
587,569 443,167
175,194 241,350
147,980 135,207
119,132 113,778
110,285 207,925
4,574,079 3,406,992




APPENDIX I

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE GROUP

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets, and additions to
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, analysed by the geographical area in which

the assets are located:

Carrying amount of
segment assets

Additions to property,
plant and equipment
(including deposits)
and intangible assets

2005 2004 2005 2004
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
PRC 2,031,590 1,439,717 494,752 179,408
Hong Kong 1,349,532 945,114 915 7,792
Europe 20,086 13,179 15 222
Others 26,557 10,937 82 26
3,427,765 2,408,947 495,764 187,448
FINANCE COSTS
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$°000
Interest on:
Bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years 19,466 13,812
Finance leases 217 389
19,683 14,201
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
2005 2004
HK$°000 HK$000
Current tax:
Hong Kong 50,697 29,976
PRC 73,661 46,635
Other jurisdictions 254 657
124,612 77,268
(Over)underprovision in prior years:
Hong Kong (4,850} 1,330
PRC 1,330 299
(3,520) 1,629
Deferred tax (note 28):
Current year 18,365 2,530
139,457 81,427

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 17.5% (2004: 17.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for

the year.

Taxation arising in PRC and other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant

jurisdictions.
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Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, one of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries,
BEEZ MRS F ¥ FHRAERALF, is entitled to exemption from PRC enterprise income tax for the first
two years commencing from its first profit-making year of operation and thereafter, this PRC subsidiary
will be entitled to a 50% relief from PRC enterprise income tax of 24% for the following three years

starting from 2003.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the income statement

as follows:

Profit before taxation

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 17.5%

Tax effect of share of results of an associate

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose

(Over)underprovision in respect of prior year

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Tax effect of other deductible temporary differences not
recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other
jurisdictions

Effect of tax concession granted to a PRC subsidiary

Effect of Hong Kong Profits Tax on concessionary rate (note)

Effect of cessation of concessionary rate of Hong Kong Profits
Tax on opening deferred tax liability (note)

Others

Tax expense for the year

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
841,505 607,928
147,263 106,393
67 5
4,099 3,153
(2,321) (472)
(3,520) 1,629
4,769 726
1,371 -
(1,195) (225)
41,577 24,480
(72,206) (40,816)
- (13,495)
19,474 -
79 79
139,457 81,457

Note: In prior year, for Hong Kong Profits Tax purposes, one of the Company’s subsidiaries
has been claiming that 50% of its assessable profit attributable to its manufacturing
operation in the PRC was offshore in nature and non-taxable. In current year, this
subsidiary has changed its mode of operation so that its assessable profit is chargeable to

Hong Kong Profits Tax at 17.5%.
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10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2005 2004
HK$°000 HK$°000
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):
Depreciation and amortisation on:
Property, plant and equipment 148,904 110,708
Prepaid lease payments 2,456 1,713
Development expenditure included in cost of sales 9,455 9,455
Trademarks included in administrative expenses 344 373
Goodwill included in administrative expenses - 118
161,159 122,367
Staff costs, inclusive of directors’ remuneration:
Salaries and other benefits 187,576 148,643
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 8,515 6,108
196,091 154,751
Auditors’ remuneration
Current year 1,693 1,278
Underprovision in prior year 50 270
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, plant and equipment 4,197 2,362
Net foreign exchange loss 22,634 9,265
Operating lease rental in respect of:
Rented premises 3,301 2,695
Other equipment 538 587
Research costs (included in cost of sales) 13,655 10,811
Write-off of development expenditure - 781
Share of tax of an associate (included in share of results of
an associate) - 30
Interest income (14,536) (1,477)
Rental income under operating lease, with
negligible outgoings (1,603) (1,745)

Of the consolidated profit for the year of HK$702,048,000 (2004: HK$526,501,000), a profit of
HK$224,937,000 (2004: HK$130,976,000) has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Lam Wong
Wai Wah, Pong  Cheung Li
Steven Chun, TatSang, Jian Hua
(Chairman and James James  (Production Ip
Managing  (Executive  (Marketing ~ Managing Chung Kam  Cho Ting, Heung
Director) Director)  Director)  Director) Kwong Spencer  Kai Sing Total
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
2005
Directors’ fees:
Executive ~ - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive - - - - 88 30 30 148
Other emoluments paid
to the executive directors:
Salaries and other benefits 2,048 1,385 1,596 1,440 - - - 6,469
Performance related
incentive payments - - 1,290 1,200 - - - 2,490
Contributions to retirement
benefit scheme 4 24 24 12 - - - 84
2,072 1,409 2,910 2,652 88 30 30 9,191
2004
Directors’ fees:
Executive - - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive - - - - 60 20 20 100
Other emoluments paid
to the executive directors:
Salaries and other benefits 2,082 1,366 1,500 1,200 - - - 6,098
Performance related
incentive payments 3,992 - 1,100 650 - - - 5,742
Contributions to retirement
benefit scheme 24 24 24 12 - - - 84
6,048 1,390 2,624 1,862 60 20 20 12,024

Note: The performance related incentive payments is determined as a percentage of the turnover
and operating profit of the Group for the two years ended 31 December 2005.

12. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, three (2004: three) were
directors of the Company whose emoluments are set out in note 11 above. The emoluments of the

remaining two (2004: two) individuals were as follows:

2005 2004

HK$'000 HK$000

Salaries and other benefits 2,406 1,792
Performance related incentive payments 3,030 1,147
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 24 24
5,460 2,963
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13.

14.

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend paid of 23 HK cents
(2004: 17 HK cents) per share

Final dividend proposed of 25 HK cents
(2004: 23 HK cents) per share

2005 2004
Number of Number of
employees employees

- 1

- 1

1 -

1 -

2005 2004
HK$000 HK$°000
105,378 76,762
114,614 103,889
219,992 180,651

The final dividend of 25 HK cents (2004: 23 HK cents) per share has been proposed by the
directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted
earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purposes of basic earnings per share
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares - share options

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purposes of diluted earnings per share
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2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$000
702,048 526,501
2005 2004
Number of Number of
shares shares
455,489,623 447,983,270
12,969,191 18,571,052
468,458,814 466,554,322
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture Properties
Fixtures and Plant and Motor under
Buildings equipment machinery vehicles development Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
CosT
At 1 January 2004 278,063 110,446 914,562 11,018 15,633 1,329,722
Currency realignment - 112 - - - 12
Transfer to other property,
plant and equipment 15,155 - - - (15,155) -
Additions - 21,191 152,060 8,207 5,737 187,195
Disposals/write-off - (511) (12,416) (925) - (13,852)
At 31 December 2004 293,218 131,238 1,054,206 18,300 6,215 1,503,177
Currency realignment 681 2,605 17,625 148 15 21,074
Transfer to other property,
plant and equipment 37,092 - 308 - (37,400) -
Additions 303 20,582 379,142 883 33,857 434,767
Disposals / write-off - - (14,644) - - (14,644)
At 31 December 2005 331,294 154,425 1,436,637 19,331 2,687 1,944,374
DEPRECIATION,
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2004 55,308 68,705 467,620 8,490 - 600,123
Currency realignment - 84 - - - 84
Provided for the year 7,027 10,662 89,780 3,239 - 110,708
Eliminated on disposals/
write-off - {276) (10,298) (816) - (11,390)
At 31 December 2004 62,335 79,175 547,102 10,913 - 699,525
Currency realignment 219 1,143 7,083 118 - 8,563
Provided for the year 8,266 12,356 125,753 2,529 - 148,904
Impairment loss recognised
in the income statement - - 6,377 - - 6,377
Eliminated on disposals/
write-off - - (10,447) - - (10,447)
At 31 December 2005 70,820 92,674 675,868 13,560 - 852,922
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2005 260,474 61,751 760,769 5,771 2,687 1,091,452
At 31 December 2004 230,883 52,063 507,104 7,387 6,215 803,652
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The cost of buildings is depreciated over forty years or the terms of the respective leases,
whichever is the shorter, using a straight-line method.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a reducing balance method
at the following rates per annum:

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% to 50%
Plant and machinery 15% to 40%
Motor vehicles 25% to 45%
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
The carrying value of the Group’s property interests
shown above comprises:
Leasehold properties in Hong Kong held under
medium term leases 3,135 3,276
Leasehold properties in the PRC held under
medium term leases 257,339 227,607
260,474 230,883

During the year, the directors conducted a review of the Group’s manufacturing assets and
determined that a number of plant and machinery were impaired, due to physical damage and technical
obsolescence. Accordingly, impairment losses of HK$6,377,000 have been recognised in respect of plant
and machinery, which are used in the Group’s electronic consumer products segment, as the directors
considered that their fair value less costs to sell is immaterial.

At 31 December 2004, the net book value of plant and machinery included an amount of
HK$14,700,000 in respect of assets held under finance leases.

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise:
Leasehold land in Hong Kong held under medium-term lease 4,582 4,695
Leasehold land in the PRC held under medium-term lease 96,141 85,550
100,723 90,245

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Non-current asset 98,267 88,532
Current asset 2,456 1,713
100,723 90,245
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Development
expenditure Trademarks Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

COST
At 1 January 2004 50,434 2,646 53,080
Additions - 253 253
Write-off (11,512) - (11,512)
At 31 December 2004 38,922 2,899 41,821
Additions - 405 405
At 31 December 2005 38,922 3,304 42,226
AMORTISATION
At 1 January 2004 11,835 2,093 13,928
Provided for the year 9,455 373 9,828
Eliminated on write-off (10,731) - (10,731)
At 31 December 2004 10,559 2,466 13,025
Provided for the year 9,455 344 9,799
At 31 December 2005 20,014 2,810 22,824
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2005 18,908 494 19,402
At 31 December 2004 28,363 433 28,796

Development expenditure and trademarks are amortised on a straight-line basis over 4 years.
Included in carrying value of development expenditure is an amount of HK$15,600,000 (2004:
HK$23,400,000) representing licence fee acquired from a third party in 2003 for the Group’s OLED

business. The remaining amount is internally generated. Trademarks were acquired from third parties.

18. GOODWILL

HK$°000

COST
At 1 January 2004 and 31 December 2004 590
Elimination of accumulated amortisation upon the application of HKFRS 3 (note 2) (177)
At 31 December 2005 413
AMORTISATION
At 1 January 2004 59
Charge for the year 118
At 31 December 2004 177
Elimination of accumulated amortisation upon the application of HKFRS 3 (note 2) 177)
At 31 December 2005 -
CARRYING VALUE
At 31 December 2005 413

_——
At 31 December 2004 413

Until 31 December 2004, goodwill had been amortised over its estimated useful life of 5 years.
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

2005 2004

HK$'000 HK$'000

Cost of investment in unlisted associate 500 500
Share of post-acquisition reserves 586 785
1,086 1,285

Particulars of the associate of the Group at 31 December 2005 are as follows:

Percentage of

Form of Country of issued share

business incorporation/ Class of capital held
Name of associate structure operation  shares held by the Group  Principal activities
Fast Clean (Korea) Ltd.  Incorporated South Korea Ordinary 50%  Trading in electric

consumer products

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out below:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$'000

Total assets 3,829 3,799
Total liabilities (1,658) (1,229)
Net assets 2,171 2,570
Group’s share of net assets of an associate 1,086 1,285
Year ended Year ended

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

HKS$'000 HK$'000

Revenue 3,935 5,901
(Loss) profit for the year (765) 225
Group’s share of results of an associate (382) 113

20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

2005 2004

HK$'000 HK$°000

Unlisted equity shares, at cost 7,800 -
Less: impairment (7,800) -

The investments represent investment in unlisted equity shares issued by private entities in the
United States of America. They are stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that their fair value
cannot be measured reliably.

21. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

The investment in unlisted equity shares at 31 December 2004 which were stated at cost were
reclassified as available-for-sale investments at 1 January 2005.
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22. INVENTORIES

2005 2004

HK$'000 HK$'000

Raw materials 243,785 167,573
Work in progress 118,834 102,183
Finished goods 187,375 175,744
549,994 445,500

During the year, there was a write-down of inventories of HK$3,599,000 (2004: HK$13,751,000)
to their net realisable value.

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit terms ranging from 30 to 90 days to its
trade customers.

The following is an aged analysis of accounts receivable at the balance sheet date:

2005 2004

HK$'000 HK$'000

Within 60 days 566,087 379,284
61 to 90 days 63,958 45,629
More than 90 days 24,611 40,022
654,656 464,935

At 31 December 2005, accumulated impairment have been made for estimated irrecoverable
amount of HK$9,675,000 (2004: HK$5,521,000).

The fair value of the Group’s trade and other receivable at 31 December 2005, which are mainly
denominated in either Hong Kong dollar, United States dollar and Renminbi, approximates to the

corresponding carrying amount.

24. SHORT-TERM LOANS RECEIVABLE

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Interest bearing loans - 1,500

The interest bearing loans were unsecured, bore interest at 10% per annum and were fully repaid
during the year.
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of accounts payable at the balance sheet date:

2005 2004

HKS$000 HK$'000

Within 60 days 685,095 342,951
61 to 90 days 38,014 21,656
More than 90 days 31,596 41,838
754,705 406,445

The fair value of the Group’s trade and other payables at 31 December 2005, which are mainly
denominated in either Hong Kong dollar, United States dollar, Renminbi and Japanese Yen, approximates

to the corresponding carrying amount.

26. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

Present value

Minimum lease of minimum
payments lease payments
2005 2004 2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Amounts payable
Within one year - 5,496 - 5,326
In the second to fifth year inclusive - - 5,411 - 5,313
- 10,907
Less: Future finance charges - (268)
Present value of lease obligations - 10,639 - 10,639
Less: Amount due for settlement
within one year shown under
current liabilities - (5,326)
Amount due for settlement after
- 5,313

one year

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its plant and machinery under finance leases. The
average lease term was 2 to 4 years. Interest rates were fixed at the contract date. All the leases were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. All leases were on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements

had been entered into for contingent rental payments.

The Group’s obligations under finance leases were secured by the lessors’ charge over the leased

assets.
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27.

BANK BORROWINGS

Bank loans
Trust receipt loans
Bank overdrafts

Secured
Unsecured

Analysed as:
Denominated in HK$
Denominated in US$
Denominated in Japanese Yen

The maturity profile of the bank borrowings is as follows:

On demand or within one year
More than one year, but not exceeding two years
More than two years, but not exceeding five years

Less: Amount due within one year shown
under current liabilities

Amount due after one year

2005 2004
HK$000 HK$'000
430,089 408,835
1,407 3,489

- 376
431,496 412,700
25,000 37,500
406,496 375,200
431,496 412,700
424,315 409,211
7,181 399

- 3,090
431,496 412,700
181,937 194,671
167,899 144,039
81,660 73,990
431,496 412,700
(181,937) (194,671)
249,559 218,029

All the Group’s borrowings are variable-rate borrowings which carry interest at HIBOR or LIBOR
plus certain basis points. Interest is repricing every three months and the range of interest rates is at
1.73% to 7.61% (2004: 1.67% to 3.67%).

During the year, the Group obtained new loans in the amount of HK$255,398,000. The loans bear
interest at market rates and will be repayable in one to four years. The proceeds were used to finance
the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unutilized banking facilities amounting to
HK$828,326,000 (2004: HK$1,397,736,000).

The fair value of the Group’s borrowings approximates to the corresponding carrying amount.
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28. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and movements thereon
during the current and prior reporting periods:

Accelerated
tax Intangible Tax
depreciation assets losses Others Total
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1 January 2004 16,312 806 (52) (226) 16,840
Charge (credit) to
income for the year 3,256 (301) 44 (469) 2,530
At 1 January 2005 19,568 505 8) (695) 19,370
Effect on cessation of
concessionary rate of
Hong Kong Profits
Tax on opening
deferred tax liability
charge to income 19,040 434 - - 19,474
(Credit) charge to
income for the year (458) (939) 8 280 (1,109)
At 31 December 2005 38,150 - - (415) 37,735

For the purpose of balance sheet presentation, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$°000

Deferred tax liabilities 38,150 . 19,370
Deferred tax assets (415) -
37,735 19,370

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of HK$46,093,000 (2004: HK$25,855,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of nil
(2004: HK$46,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$46,093,000 (2004: HK$25,809,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$10,536,000 (2004: HK$3,785,000) that will expire from 2007 to
2010, other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had other deductible temporary differences of
HK$7,835,000 (2004: nil) available for offset against future profit. A deferred tax asset has not been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

Number of shares Share capital
2005 2004 2005 2004
HK$°000 HK$°000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
Authorised:
At 1 January 650,000,000 500,000,000 65,000 50,000
Increase on 12 May 2004 - 150,000,000 ~ 15,000
At 31 December 650,000,000 650,000,000 65,000 65,000
Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 451,689,527 444,259,527 45,168 44,425
Exercise of share options 6,475,000 7,430,000 648 743
At 31 December 458,164,527 451,689,527 45,816 45,168

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 12 May 2004, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from HK$50,000,000 to
HK$65,000,000 by the creation of additional 150,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each.

Details of the exercise of share options are set out in note 34.

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$'000
Export bills discounted with recourse - 27,043

31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the balance sheet date, the Group had pledged certain of its machinery with an aggregate
carrying value of HK$47,056,000 (2004: HK$55,360,000) to secure bank borrowings granted to the Group.

32, OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

2005 2004

HK$°000 HK$°000

Within one year 4,435 1,971
In the second to fifth year inclusive 274 2,253
4,709 4,224

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office premises
and other equipment. Leases are negotiated for an average term of two years with fixed rentals.
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33.

34.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$000
Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided
in the financial statements in respect of acquisition of
plant and equipment 51,415 170,423
Capital expenditure authorised but not contracted
for in respect of acquisition of plant and equipment 2,000,000 550,000

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to resolutions passed at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 22

December 2003, the Company has terminated a share option scheme which was adopted on 22 May 2001
(the “Old Scheme”) and adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”).

(i) Old Scheme

The purpose of the Old Scheme is to motivate employees of the Group and to allow them
to participate in the growth of the Company. The maximum number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the Old Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the share
capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The maximum number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual is not permitted to exceed 25% of the aggregate
number of shares for the time being issued and issuable under the Old Scheme. Any participants
who accepts an offer of the grant of an option in accordance with the terms of the Old Scheme
shall pay to the Company HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof within a period
of 30 days from the date on which an option is offered to the participant.

At 31 December 2005, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted
previously and remained outstanding under the Old Scheme was 14,095,000 (2004: 20,570,000),
representing 3.1% (2004: 4.6%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date. The options
are exercisable at any time until 22 May 2011.

The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share options held by the employees
(including directors) and movements in such holdings during the year:

Number of options

Exercised Exercised
Exercisable  Exercise ~ Outstanding during Outstanding during Outstanding
Date of grant period price at 1.1.2004 the year at 31.12.2004 the year  at 31.12.2005
HK$
Directors:
16 July 2001 17.7.2001 to 219 21,100,000 (6,730,000) 14,370,000 (2,980,000) 11,390,000
21.5.2011
Employees:
16 July 2001 17.7.2001 to 2.1% 6,900,000 (700,000) 6,200,000 (3,495,000) 2,705,000
215201

28,000,000 (7,430,000) 20,570,000 (6,475,000) 14,095,000

The average fair value of the Company’s share before the date of issue for the exercise of
share options during the year is HK$10.38.
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(ii) New Scheme

The Company’s New Scheme was adopted for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to eligible persons or rewarding for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group and
will expire on 21 December 2013. Under the New Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company
may grant options to eligible persons, including (i) any director or proposed director, full-time
employee or proposed employee of any member of the Group or controlling shareholder or any
company controlled by a controlling shareholder; (ii) any holder of any securities issued by any
member of the Group or any controlling shareholder or any company controlled by -a controlling
shareholder; and (iii) any business or joint venture partner, contractor, agent or representative of
any supplier of goods or services to or any customer or distributor of goods or services of any
member of the Group or any controlling shareholder or a company controlled by a controlling
shareholder.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the New
Scheme and the Old Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital and with a
value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be accepted within 21 days from the date of option offer, upon
payment of HK$1.00 per option. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of
the share option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant. The exercise price is determined by
the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant, and the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

At 31 December 2005, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted
previously and remained outstanding under the New Scheme was 44,000,000 (2004: 44,000,000),
representing 9.6% (2004: 9.7%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date. The options
are exercisable at any time until 21 December 2013.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share options held by the employees
(including directors):

Number of options

outstanding
at 26.2.2004,
Exercise 31.12.2004
Date of grant Exercisable period Price and 31.12.2005
HK$
Directors:

26 February 2004 27.2.2004 to 21.12.2013 11.6 17,600,000

Employees:
26 February 2004 27.2.2004 to 21.12.2013 11.6 26,400,000
44,000,000

By the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2, the financial impact of the share options
granted above is not recorded in the Group’s balance sheet until such time as the options are
exercised. Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded by the
Company as additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the
exercise price per share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the Company in the
share premium account. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date are
deleted from the register of outstanding options.
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

All the staff in Hong Kong of the Group are required to join the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme. The Group is required to contribute 5%, while the employees are required to contribute 5% of
their salaries to the scheme to the extent of HK$1,000 for each employee.

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their employees to the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

36. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

During the year, the Group received an unconditional government subsidy of HK$1,887,000
(2004: HK$14,953,000) towards the scientific research development. The amount has been treated as
deferred income. The amount is transferred to income over the useful lives of the relevant assets and
relevant expenditure incurred. This policy has resulted in a credit to income in the current year of
HK$1,856,000 (2004: HK$1,162,000). As at 31 December 2005, an amount of HK$14,087,000 (2004:
HK$13,791,000) remained to be amortised and included in other payables.

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year were as

follows:
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Short-term benefits 11,575 14,284
Post-employment benefits ) 132 132
11,707 14,416

The remuneration of directors and key executives are determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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38.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

At 31 December 2005:

Name of subsidiary

Fast Clean Limited

Fast Clean (U.S.A.) Inc

Truly Electronics

Manufacturing Limited

Lite Tech Limited

Truly Electrical Products

Company Limited

Truly Industrial Limited

Truly Semiconductors
(Europe) GmbH

Truly Semiconductors
Limited
Truly (USA) Inc.

EHETERA A

fFHFEBERA T

BEX (LR ERAF

ERER QLR
HR2 A

ERER UE)
BB

Place of
incorporation or
registration/
operation

Hong Kong
United States of
America

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Germany

Hong Kong

United States

of America

PRC

PRC

PRC

PRC

PRC

*  wholly foreign owned enterprise

Nominal value
of issued
and fully

paid ordinary
share capital/
registered
capital

HK$100

US$5,000

HK$1,000,010

HK$100,000

HK$200

HK$872,894

DM50,000

HK$1,000

US$20,000

US$35,361,100

US$139,620,900

US$1,000,000

US$1,000,000

US$2,200,000

Proportionate
equity interest of
the Group
Directly  Indirectly
- 100%
- 100%

100% -

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

100% -

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

Principal activities
Trading in electric
toothbrush

Trading of health
products

Trading in electronic
calculators

Trading in back light

Trading in motor

Trading in electronic
components

Trading in LCD
products

Trading in LCD
products

Marketing of electronic
calculators

Manufacture of
electronic calculators

Manufacture of LCD
products

Manufacture of
electric toothbrush

Manufacture of motor

Manufacture of back
light

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of directors, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at 31 December 2005 or at any time
during the year.
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III. INDEBTEDNESS

As at the close of business on 31 March 2006, the Group had outstanding bank
borrowings of approximately HK$551,600,000, comprising secured bank loans of
approximately HK$21,900,000 secured by the Group’s machinery with a carrying value of
approximately HK$45,291,000. The remaining outstanding bank borrowings of
HK$529,700,000 were unsecured and comprised bank loans of HK$466,600,000, trust receipt
loans of HK$33,600,000 and discounted bills of HK$29,500,000.

Save as disclosed in this circular and apart from intra-group liabilities, the Group
did not, as at the close of business on 31 March 2006, have any outstanding loan capital
issued and outstanding or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts and liabilities under
acceptances or other similar indebtedness, debentures, mortgages, charges or loans or
acceptance credits or hire purchase or finance lease commitments, guarantees or other
material contingent liabilities.

IV. WORKING CAPITAL

The Directors are of the opinion that after taking into account the credit facilities
and internal resources available to the Group, the Group has sufficient working capital for
its present requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any matter or fact which will render the Group not
having sufficient working capital for its requirements after completion of the Transactions.

V. FINANCIAL AND TRADING PROSPECTS

The Group’s LCD sales for the year 2005 (excluding sales within the Group) were
about HK$4.4 billion which comprised 96% of the Group's turnover. In 2005, 76% and 13%
of the LCD outputs in dollar term were shipped to China and South Korea respectively.
With GDP heavily relying on exports, the Group’s sales to China and South Korea will be
the Group's stepping stone for its products to be recognized in the international markets
as China and South Korea export a large amount of products which contain LCD
manufactured by the Group.

With the Group’s traditionally tight overheads budget, effective cost control,
investment in automated production plants and continuous improvement in productivity
such as outputs and yields, the Directors believe that the profit margins will continue to
improve in 2006.

The Group will continue to utilize vertical integration in production to enhance its
production capacity and efficiency. Mass production of some critical components in the
Group’s own factories will significantly reduce the purchase cost of making the final LCD
products. With increased production capacity, the Group is ready to meet new business
opportunity.
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The Group’s business expansion over the past few years was based on solid grounds
of making the right investments in production facilities, selecting the right products to
develop and sell and targeting the right market to penetrate. The Group will continue to
fine-tune the execution of these policies to keep the Group growing in the right direction.
As a matter of self-monitoring, more and more internal controls will be and are being
deployed to regulate this growing process. After the successful launch of the second
version of the material requisition and production planning system (“MRPII system”) in
around May 2004 which resulted in rapid decline in inventory turnover period from over
100 days to around 50 days, a new ERP system is now being tested which will further
enhance the production efficiency of the Group.

As an industrialist with emphasis on production and research and development, the
Group has also put much effort in its marketing force. In order to strengthen the Group’s
direct business relationships with multinational customers, the Group had during the
year re-organized its various overseas marketing offices including the Europe, USA and
Japan subsidiaries.

2006 and the following couple of years will witness the Group’s another dramatic
change in technological breakthrough. Through years of product development and
feasibility study, the Group is now in the process of finalizing the investments of a mass
production plant in TFT panel.
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Group. The Directors collectively and
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, there are no other facts, the omission of which would make any
statement herein misleading.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions of each Director
or chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares

(a)  Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

Percentage

of the

Number of issued share

issued ordinary capital of

Name of director Capacity shares held the Company
Lam Wai Wah, Steven Beneficial owner 199,548,000 43.52%
Held by spouse (Note 1) 12,100,000 2.64%

211,648,000 46.16%

Wong Pong Chun, James Beneficial owner 534,000 0.12%
Held by spouse (Note 2) 100,000 0.02%

634,000 0.14%

Cheung Tat Sang, James Beneficial owner 800,000 0.17%
Li Jian Hua Beneficial owner 1,173,000 0.26%
214,255,000 46.73%
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(b)  Share options

Number of
Number of underlying
Name of director Capacity options held shares
Lam Wai Wah, Steven Beneficial owner 6,900,000 6,900,000
Wong Pong Chun, James Beneficial owner 5,000,000 5,000,000
Cheung Tat Sang, James Beneficial owner 8,100,000 8,100,000
Li Jian Hua Beneficial owner 4,400,000 4,400,000
Held by spouse (Note 3) 4,400,000 4,400,000
8,800,000 8,800,000
28,800,000 28,800,000
Notes:
1. Lam Wai Wah, Steven is deemed to be interested in 12,100,000 Shares, being the interests held
beneficially by his spouse, Chung King Yee, Cecilia.
2. Wong Pong Chun, James is deemed to be interested in 100,000 Shares, being the interests held
beneficially by his spouse, Lai Ching Mui, Stella.
3. Li Jian Hua is deemed to be interested in 4,400,000 share options of the Company, being the

interests held beneficially by his spouse, Guo Yu Yan,

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors or
chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests
and short positions which he was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listing Companies in the Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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PERSONS WHO HAVE AN INTEREST OR SHORT POSITION WHICH IS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER DIVISION 2 AND 3 OF PART XV OF THE SFO AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as is known to any Director or chief executive
of the Company, the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or, who were, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any other member of the Group or had any option in respect of such capital:

Percentage of
Number of the issued share

issued ordinary capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
Chan Kin Sun (Note 1) Beneficial owner 28,900,000 6.30%
Held by spouse 9,856,000 2.15%
38,756,000 8.45%
Chan Lai Lan Beneficial owner 25,896,000 5.65%
64,652,000 14.10%

Note:
1. Chan Kin Sun and his spouse, Cheng Kwan Ying, Jennifer, are deemed to be interested in

38,756,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors
knows of any person (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who
was, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other
member of the Group or held any option in respect of such capital.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below, there are no material contracts (other than contracts entered
into in the ordinary course of business) which had been entered into by the Group in the
two years immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date and are or may be material.

(a) A Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated 14 July, 2004 entered
into between Next Sierra, Inc. and Truly Semiconductors for the acquisition
by Truly Semiconductors of 333,333 Shares of Series B Preferred Stock in Next
Sierra, Inc. at the consideration of US$1,000,000;
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(b)  two purchase orders dated 15 October, 2004 at the aggregate consideration of
HK$156,160,000 placed by Truly Semiconductors with two suppliers for the
purchase of (1) colour STN LCD production equipment including photo
processing equipment, Top/P.I. processing equipment, rubbing processing
equipment and assembly processing equipment; and (2) deposition machine
(being the subject of an announcement and a circular issued by the Company
on 20 October, 2004 and 8 November, 2004 respectively); and

(¢) the Letter of Intent.
LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the Company nor any other members of
the Group was engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and, as far
as the Directors are aware, no litigation or claim of material importance is pending or
threatened against the Company or any other members of the Group.

SERVICE CONTRACT

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors had any existing or proposed
service contract with the Company or any member of the Group (excluding contracts
expiring or determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation).

COMPETING INTEREST

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors or their respective associates
has any interest in other business which competes or is likely to compete with the business
of the Group.

No Director is materially interested in any contract or arrangement subsisting at the
Latest Practicable Date which is significant to the business of the Group taken as a whole.

Since 31 December, 2005, the date to which the latest published audited consolidated
accounts of the Group have been made up, none of the Directors has, or has had, any
direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired or disposed of by or
leased to or which are proposed to be acquired disposed of by or leased to any member of
the Group.

MATERIAL CHANGES
Save as disclosed in this circular, the Directors are not aware of any material adverse

changes in the financial or trading position of the Group since 31 December 2005, the date
to which the last published audited accounts of the Group were made up.
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GENERAL

(a) The registered office of the Company is at P.O. Box 309, Grand Cayman, Cayman
Islands, British West Indies.

(b) The head office and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is at
2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New
Territories, Hong Kong.

(¢) The company secretary and the qualified accountant of the Company is Mr. Ng Sui
Wa, Thomas. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

(d) The branch share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong is Secretaries Limited, at
26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

(e)  The English text of this circular shall prevail over the Chinese text in the case of
inconsistency.

DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents are available for inspection during normal
business hours at the office of the Company at 2/F., Chung Shun Knitting Centre, 1-3
Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, N. T., Hong Kong during normal business hours on any
weekday (public holidays excepted) up to and including 19 May 2006:

(i)  the memorandum and articles of association of the Company;

(ii) the material contracts referred to in the paragraph headed “Material Contracts”
in of this circular;

(iii) the letter from the Board, the text of which is set out on pages 3 to 7 of this
circular;

(iv) the letter from the Company’s auditors in relation to the sufficiency of working
capital; and

(v) the annual reports of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2004 and
31 December 2005.
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TRULY®

TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 0732)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an extraordinary general meeting of Truly
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) will be held at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun
Knitting Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong on Friday,
19 May 2006 at 10:30 a.m. for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing, with
our without modifications, the following resolution which will be proposed as an ordinary

resolution:

ORDINARY RESOLUTION

“THAT:-

(A)

(B)

the proposal for Truly Semiconductors Limited (“Truly Semiconductors”) to
enter into a Basic Sale and Purchase Agreement with Nakan Corporation
(“Nakan”) whereby Nakan would design and construct for Truly
Semiconductors a new core TFT-LCD production line together with ancillary
facilities and infrastructure (the “New Production Line”) as the same is
described in the circular of the Company dated 3 May 2006 (the “Circular”) be
and is hereby approved, and any one director of the Company be and is
hereby authorized to take such actions and execute such documents (to be
countersigned by the secretary of the Company or by another director of the
Company if it is required to affix the common seal of the Company thereto) as
he may consider necessary or desirable to carry out and complete the
transactions contemplated thereunder; and

the proposed purchase and installation of ancillary facilities and infrastructure
which will include (1) infrastructure; (2) clean room system; (3) electricity
facilities; (4) water purification facilities; (5) gas facilities; (6) environmental
protection facilities; and (7) technical support and miscellaneous by Truly
Semiconductors as described in the Circular and the transactions contemplated
thereunder be and are hereby approved, and any one director of the Company
be and is hereby authorized to take such actions and execute such documents
(to be countersigned by the secretary of the Company or by another director
of the Company if it is required to affix the common seal of the Company
thereto) as he may consider necessary or desirable to carry out and complete
the transactions contemplated thereunder.”

By Order of the Board
Ng Sui Wa, Thomas
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 3 May 2006
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Notes:

M

(2)

©)]

A member entitled to attend and vote at the above Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to
attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

In order to be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if
any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy of that power of attorney or other authority,
must be lodged at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 2nd Floor, Chung Shun Knitting
Centre, 1-3 Wing Yip Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the
time fixed for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

A form of proxy for use at the Meeting is being dispatched to the shareholders of the Company together
with a copy of this notice.
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